Table of Contents

Tithes: Old Covenant	2
מעשר (mah-as-ayr)' or מעשר maʻasar (mah-as-ar)' and (in pl.) fem.	
מעשרה maʻasrah (mah-as-raw')	
06237 עשר 'asar (aw-sar')	4
Offerings: Old Covenant	4
04503 מַנַחָּה minchah (min-khaw')	4
(owlah (o-law') or עלה 'owlah (o-law') עלה 'owlah (o-law')	9
Tithing: New Covenant	
586 αποδεκατευω apodekatoo (ap-od-ek-at-o'-o)	9
1181 δεκατη dekate (dek-at'-ay)	10
Offering: New Covenant	
1435 δωρον doron (do'-ron)	10
4374 προσφερω prosphero (pros-fer'-o)	12
4376 προσφορα prosphora (pros-for-ah')	14
Sacrifice: New Covenant	
2378 θυσια thusia (thoo-see'-ah)	
2380 θυω thuo (thoo'-o)	
1494 ειδωλοθυτον eidolothuton (i-do-loth'-oo-ton)	18
Gifts: New Covenant	
1431 δωρεα dorea (do-reh-ah')	19
1432 δωρεαν dorean (do-reh-an')	20
1433 δωρεομαι doreomai (do-reh'-om-ahee)	20
1434 δωρημα dorema (do'-ray-mah)	20
1390 δομα doma (dom'-ah)	
334 $αναθημα$ anathema (an-ath'-ay-mah)	21
5486 χαρισμα charisma (khar'-is-mah)	21
3311 μερισμος merismos (mer-is-mos')	22
1654 ελεημοσυνη eleemosune (el-eh-ay-mos-oo'-nay)	23
Commands: New Covenant	24
4367 προστασσω prostasso (pros-tas'-so)	24
1291 διαστελλομαι diastellomai (dee-as-tel'-lom-ahee)	24
1299 διατασσω diatasso (dee-at-as'-so)	25
3852 παραγγελια paraggelia (par-ang-gel-ee'-ah)	26
3853 παραγελλω paraggello (par-ang-gel'-lo)	26
1778 ενταλμα entalma (en'-tal-mah)	
1781 εντελλομαι entellomai (en-tel'-lom-ahee)	28
1785 εντολη entole (en-tol-ay')	29
2003 επιταγη epitage (ep-ee-tag-ay')	33
2004 επιτασσω epitasso (ep-ee-tas'-so)	33
2753 κελευω keleuo (kel-yoo'-o)	34
3004 λεγω lego (leg'-o)	

Tithes: Old Covenant

04643 מעשר (mah-as-ayr)' or מעשר *ma*'asar (mah-as-ar)' and (in pl.) fem. מעשרה *ma*'asrah (mah-as-raw')

from <u>06240</u>; TWOT-1711h; n m

NAS-tenth (4), tenth part (1), tithe (17), tithes (9), tithing (1).

AV-tithe 27, tenth part 2, tenth 2, tithing 1; 32

1) tithe, tenth part

1a) tenth part

1b) tithe, payment of a tenth part

Scriptures: (ma'aser is used for all verses for convenience only)

- Genesis 14:20 And blessed be God Most High, Who has delivered your enemies into your hand." He gave him a **tenth** <04643 ma'aser> of all.
- Leviticus 27:30 'Thus all the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of the land, of the seed of the land or of the fruit of the tree, is the LORD'S; it is holy to the LORD.
- Leviticus 27:31 'If, therefore, a man wishes to redeem part of his tithe <04643 ma'aser>, he shall add to it one-fifth of it.
- Leviticus 27:32 'For every **tenth part <04643 ma'aser>** of herd or flock, whatever passes under the rod, the tenth one shall be holy to the LORD.
- Numbers 18:21 "To the sons of Levi, behold, I have given all the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** in Israel for an inheritance, in return for their service which they perform, the service of the tent of meeting.
- Numbers 18:24 "For the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of the sons of Israel, which they offer as an offering to the LORD, I have given to the Levites for an inheritance; therefore I have said concerning them, 'They shall have no inheritance among the sons of Israel.'"
- Numbers 18:26 "Moreover, you shall speak to the Levites and say to them, 'When you take from the sons of Israel the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** which I have given you from them for your inheritance, then you shall present an offering from it to the LORD, a **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of the tithe **<04643 ma'aser>**.
- Numbers 18:28 'So you shall also present an offering to the LORD from your **tithes <04643 ma'aser>**, which you receive from the sons of Israel; and from it you shall give the LORD'S offering to Aaron the priest.
- Deuteronomy 12:6 "There you shall bring your burnt offerings, your sacrifices, your **tithes** <04643 ma'aser>, the contribution of your hand, your votive offerings, your freewill offerings, and the firstborn of your herd and of your flock.
- Deuteronomy 12:11 then it shall come about that the place in which the LORD your God will choose for His name to dwell, there you shall bring all that I command you: your burnt offerings and your sacrifices, your tithes <04643 ma'aser> and the contribution of your hand, and all your choice votive offerings which you will vow to the LORD.
- Deuteronomy 12:17 "You are not allowed to eat within your gates the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of your grain or new wine or oil, or the firstborn of your herd or flock, or any of your votive offerings which you vow, or your freewill offerings, or the contribution of your hand.

- Deuteronomy 14:23 "You shall eat in the presence of the LORD your God, at the place where He chooses to establish His name, the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of your grain, your new wine, your oil, and the firstborn of your herd and your flock, so that you may learn to fear the LORD your God always.
- Deuteronomy 14:28 "At the end of every third year you shall bring out all the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of your produce in that year, and shall deposit *it* in your town.
- Deuteronomy 26:12 "When you have finished **paying <06237 'asar>** all the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of your increase in the third year, the year of **tithing <04643 ma'aser>**, then you shall give it to the Levite, to the stranger, to the orphan and to the widow, that they may eat in your towns and be satisfied.
- 2 Chronicles 31:5 As soon as the order spread, the sons of Israel provided in abundance the first fruits of grain, new wine, oil, honey and of all the produce of the field; and they brought in abundantly the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of all.
- 2 Chronicles 31:6 The sons of Israel and Judah who lived in the cities of Judah also brought in the tithe <04643 ma'aser> of oxen and sheep, and the tithe <04643 ma'aser> of sacred gifts which were consecrated to the LORD their God, and placed *them* in heaps.
- 2 Chronicles 31:12 They faithfully brought in the contributions and the **tithes <04643 ma'aser>** and the consecrated things; and Conaniah the Levite *was* the officer in charge of them and his brother Shimei *was* second.
- Nehemiah 10:37 We will also bring the first of our dough, our contributions, the fruit of every tree, the new wine and the oil to the priests at the chambers of the house of our God, and the tithe <04643 ma'aser> of our ground to the Levites, for the Levites are they who receive the tithes <06237 'asar> in all the rural towns.
- Nehemiah 10:38 The priest, the son of Aaron, shall be with the Levites when the Levites receive tithes <06237 'asar', and the Levites shall bring up the tenth <04643 ma'aser' of the tithes <04643 ma'aser' to the house of our God, to the chambers of the storehouse.
- Nehemiah 12:44 On that day men were also appointed over the chambers for the stores, the contributions, the first fruits and the **tithes <04643 ma'aser>**, to gather into them from the fields of the cities the portions required by the law for the priests and Levites; for Judah rejoiced over the priests and Levites who served.
- Nehemiah 13:5 had prepared a large room for him, where formerly they put the grain offerings, the frankincense, the utensils and the **tithes <04643 ma'aser>** of grain, wine and oil prescribed for the Levites, the singers and the gatekeepers, and the contributions for the priests.
- Nehemiah 13:12 All Judah then brought the **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** of the grain, wine and oil into the storehouses.
- Ezekiel 45:11 "The ephah and the bath shall be the same quantity, so that the bath will contain a **tenth <04643 ma'aser>** of a homer and the ephah a tenth of a homer; their standard shall be according to the homer.
- Ezekiel 45:14 and the prescribed portion of oil (*namely*, the bath of oil), a **tenth <04643 ma'aser>** of a bath from *each* kor (*which is* ten baths *or* a homer, for ten baths are a homer);
- Amos 4:4 "Enter Bethel and transgress; In Gilgal multiply transgression! Bring your sacrifices every morning, Your tithes <04643 ma'aser> every three days.
- Malachi 3:8 "Will a man rob God? Yet you are robbing Me! But you say, 'How have we robbed You?' In tithes <04643 ma'aser> and offerings.

Malachi 3:10 "Bring the whole **tithe <04643 ma'aser>** into the storehouse, so that there may be food in My house, and test Me now in this," says the LORD of hosts, "if I will not open for you the windows of heaven and pour out for you a blessing until it overflows.

06237 שט' *'asar* (aw-sar')

(797c); denom. vb. from 06235; a primitive root (ident. with 06238); TWOT-1711c; v to take the tenth of, tithe:—

NAS-paying (1), receive the tithes (1), receive tithes (1), surely give (1), surely give a tenth (1), surely tithe (1), take a tenth (2).

AV-tithe 4, take..tenth 2, give tenth 1, surly 1, truly 1; 9

- 1) to tithe, take the tenth part of, give a tithe, take a tithe
 - 1a) (Qal) to tithe
 - 1b) (Piel) to give a tithe
 - 1c) (Hiphil) to take a tithe
- Genesis 28:22 "This stone, which I have set up as a pillar, will be God's house, and of all that You give me I will surely give a tenth <06237 'asar' to You."
- Deuteronomy 14:22 "You shall **surely tithe <06237 'asar>** all the produce from what you sow, which comes out of the field every year.
- Deuteronomy 26:12 "When you have finished **paying <06237 'asar>** all the tithe of your increase in the third year, the year of tithing, then you shall give it to the Levite, to the stranger, to the orphan and to the widow, that they may eat in your towns and be satisfied.
- 1 Samuel 8:15 "He will take a tenth <06237 'asar> of your seed and of your vineyards and give to his officers and to his servants.
- 1 Samuel 8:17 "He will take a tenth <06237 'asar> of your flocks, and you yourselves will become his servants.
- Nehemiah 10:37 We will also bring the first of our dough, our contributions, the fruit of every tree, the new wine and the oil to the priests at the chambers of the house of our God, and the tithe of our ground to the Levites, for the Levites are they who **receive the tithes <06237** 'asar> in all the rural towns.

Nehemiah 10:38 The priest, the son of Aaron, shall be with the Levites when the Levites receive tithes <06237 'asar'>, and the Levites shall bring up the tenth of the tithes to the house of our God, to the chambers of the storehouse.

Offerings: Old Covenant

04503 מנחה *minchah* (min-khaw')

(585a); from an unused root meaning to apportion, i.e. bestow; TWOT-1214a; n f; a gift, tribute, offering:—

NAS-gift (5), gifts (2), meal offering (7), meal offerings (1), offering (152), offering* (1), offerings (14), present (12), sacrifice (3), tribute (14).

AV-offering 164, present 28, gift 7, oblation 6, sacrifice 5, meat 1; 211

- 1) gift, tribute, offering, present, oblation, sacrifice, meat offering
 - 1a) gift, present (b) tribute (c) offering (to God) (d) grain offering

Scriptures: 211 verses, too extensive to print all; 79 verses recorded here

- Genesis 4:3 So it came about in the course of time that Cain brought an **offering** < **04503 minchah** > to the LORD of the fruit of the ground.
- Genesis 4:4 Abel, on his part also brought of the firstlings of his flock and of their fat portions. And the LORD had regard for Abel and for his offering <04503 minchah>;
- Genesis 4:5 but for Cain and for his **offering <04503 minchah>** He had no regard. So Cain became very angry and his countenance fell.
- Genesis 32:13 So he spent the night there. Then he selected from what he had with him a **present <04503 minchah>** for his brother Esau:
- Genesis 32:18 then you shall say, 'These belong to your servant Jacob; it is a **present <04503 minchah>** sent to my lord Esau. And behold, he also is behind us.'"
- Genesis 32:20 and you shall say, 'Behold, your servant Jacob also is behind us.'" For he said, "I will appease him with the **present <04503 minchah>** that goes before me. Then afterward I will see his face; perhaps he will accept me."
- Genesis 32:21 So the **present <04503 minchah>** passed on before him, while he himself spent that night in the camp.
- Genesis 33:10 Jacob said, "No, please, if now I have found favor in your sight, then take my **present <04503 minchah>** from my hand, for I see your face as one sees the face of God, and you have received me favorably.
- Genesis 43:11 Then their father Israel said to them, "If it must be so, then do this: take some of the best products of the land in your bags, and carry down to the man as a **present** <04503 minchah>, a little balm and a little honey, aromatic gum and myrrh, pistachio nuts and almonds.
- Genesis 43:15 So the men took this **present <04503 minchah>**, and they took double the money in their hand, and Benjamin; then they arose and went down to Egypt and stood before Joseph.
- Genesis 43:25 So they prepared the **present <04503 minchah>** for Joseph's coming at noon; for they had heard that they were to eat a meal there.
- Genesis 43:26 When Joseph came home, they brought into the house to him the **present <04503** minchah> which was in their hand and bowed to the ground before him.
- Exodus 29:41 "The other lamb you shall offer at twilight, and shall offer with it the same grain offering <04503 minchah> and the same drink offering as in the morning, for a soothing aroma, an offering by fire to the LORD.
- Exodus 30:9 "You shall not offer any strange incense on this altar, or burnt offering or **meal offering <04503 minchah>**; and you shall not pour out a drink offering on it.
- Exodus 40:29 He set the altar of burnt offering before the doorway of the tabernacle of the tent of meeting, and offered on it the burnt offering and the **meal offering <04503 minchah>**, just as the LORD had commanded Moses.

Leviticus 2:1-15 (not printed)

Leviticus 5:13 'So the priest shall make atonement for him concerning his sin which he has committed from one of these, and it will be forgiven him; then the rest shall become the priest's, like the grain offering <04503 minchah>.'"

Leviticus 6:14-23 (not printed)

- Leviticus 7:9 'Likewise, every grain offering <04503 minchah> that is baked in the oven and everything prepared in a pan or on a griddle shall belong to the priest who presents it.
- Leviticus 7:10 'Every grain offering <04503 minchah>, mixed with oil or dry, shall belong to all the sons of Aaron, to all alike.
- Leviticus 7:37 This is the law of the burnt offering, the grain **offering <04503 minchah>** and the sin offering and the guilt offering and the ordination offering and the sacrifice of peace offerings,
- Leviticus 9:4 and an ox and a ram for peace offerings, to sacrifice before the LORD, and a grain offering <04503 minchah> mixed with oil; for today the LORD will appear to you."
- Leviticus 9:17 Next he presented the grain offering <04503 minchah>, and filled his hand with some of it and offered it up in smoke on the altar, besides the burnt offering of the morning.
- Leviticus 10:12 Then Moses spoke to Aaron, and to his surviving sons, Eleazar and Ithamar, "Take the grain offering <04503 minchah> that is left over from the LORD'S offerings by fire and eat it unleavened beside the altar, for it is most holy.

Leviticus 14:10-31 (not printed)

- Leviticus 23:13 'Its grain **offering <04503 minchah>** shall then be two-tenths of an ephah of fine flour mixed with oil, an offering by fire to the LORD for a soothing aroma, with its drink offering, a fourth of a hin of wine.
- Leviticus 23:16 'You shall count fifty days to the day after the seventh sabbath; then you shall present a new grain offering <04503 minchah> to the LORD.
- Leviticus 23:18 'Along with the bread you shall present seven one year old male lambs without defect, and a bull of the herd and two rams; they are to be a burnt offering to the LORD, with their grain **offering <04503 minchah>** and their drink offerings, an offering by fire of a soothing aroma to the LORD.
- Leviticus 23:37 'These are the appointed times of the LORD which you shall proclaim as holy convocations, to present offerings by fire to the LORD—burnt offerings and grain offerings <04503 minchah>, sacrifices and drink offerings, each day's matter on its own day—
- Numbers 4:16 "The responsibility of Eleazar the son of Aaron the priest is the oil for the light and the fragrant incense and the continual grain **offering <04503 minchah>** and the anointing oil—the responsibility of all the tabernacle and of all that is in it, with the sanctuary and its furnishings."

Numbers 5:15-26 (not printed)

- Numbers 6:15 and a basket of unleavened cakes of fine flour mixed with oil and unleavened wafers spread with oil, along with their grain offering <04503 minchah> and their drink offering <04503 minchah>.
- Numbers 6:17 'He shall also offer the ram for a sacrifice of peace offerings to the LORD, together with the basket of unleavened cakes; the priest shall likewise offer its grain **offering** <04503 minchah> and its drink offering.

Numbers 7:13-87

Numbers 8:8 "Then let them take a bull with its grain offering <04503 minchah>, fine flour mixed with oil; and a second bull you shall take for a sin offering.

Numbers 15:4-24 (not printed)

Numbers 16:15 Then Moses became very angry and said to the LORD, "Do not regard their **offering! <04503 minchah>** I have not taken a single donkey from them, nor have I done harm to any of them."

Numbers 18:9 "This shall be yours from the most holy gifts reserved from the fire; every offering of theirs, even every grain **offering <04503 minchah>** and every sin offering and every guilt offering, which they shall render to Me, shall be most holy for you and for your sons.

Numbers 28:5-31 (not printed) Numbers 29:3-39 (not printed)

- Joshua 22:23 "If we have built us an altar to turn away from following the LORD, or if to offer a burnt offering or grain offering <04503 minchah> on it, or if to offer sacrifices of peace offerings on it, may the LORD Himself require it.
- Joshua 22:29 "Far be it from us that we should rebel against the LORD and turn away from following the LORD this day, by building an altar for burnt offering, for grain offering <04503 minchah> or for sacrifice, besides the altar of the LORD our God which is before His tabernacle."
- Judges 3:15 But when the sons of Israel cried to the LORD, the LORD raised up a deliverer for them, Ehud the son of Gera, the Benjamite, a left-handed man. And the sons of Israel sent **tribute** <04503 minchah> by him to Eglon the king of Moab.
- Judges 3:17 He presented the **tribute <04503 minchah>** to Eglon king of Moab. Now Eglon was a very fat man.
- Judges 3:18 It came about when he had finished presenting the **tribute <04503 minchah>**, that he sent away the people who had carried the **tribute <04503 minchah>**.
- Judges 6:18 "Please do not depart from here, until I come back to You, and bring out my **offering <04503 minchah>** and lay it before You." And He said, "I will remain until you return."
- Judges 13:19 So Manoah took the young goat with the grain offering <04503 minchah> and offered it on the rock to the LORD, and He performed wonders while Manoah and his wife looked on.
- Judges 13:23 But his wife said to him, "If the LORD had desired to kill us, He would not have accepted a burnt offering and a grain offering <04503 minchah> from our hands, nor would He have shown us all these things, nor would He have let us hear things like this at this time."
- 1 Samuel 2:17 Thus the sin of the young men was very great before the LORD, for the men despised the **offering <04503 minchah>** of the LORD.
- 1 Samuel 2:29 'Why do you kick at My sacrifice and at My offering <04503 minchah> which I have commanded in My dwelling, and honor your sons above Me, by making yourselves fat with the choicest of every offering <04503 minchah> of My people Israel?'
- 1 Samuel 3:14 "Therefore I have sworn to the house of Eli that the iniquity of Eli's house shall not be atoned for by sacrifice or **offering <04503 minchah>** forever."
- 1 Samuel 10:27 But certain worthless men said, "How can this one deliver us?" And they despised him and did not bring him any **present <04503 minchah>.** But he kept silent.
- 1 Samuel 26:19 "Now therefore, please let my lord the king listen to the words of his servant. If the LORD has stirred you up against me, let Him accept an **offering <04503 minchah>**; but if it is men, cursed are they before the LORD, for they have driven me out today so that I would have no attachment with the inheritance of the LORD, saying, 'Go, serve other gods.'

2 Samuel 8:2,6 (not printed)

1 Kings 8:64 On the same day the king consecrated the middle of the court that was before the house of the LORD, because there he offered the burnt offering and the grain offering

- <04503 minchah> and the fat of the peace offerings; for the bronze altar that was before the LORD was too small to hold the burnt offering and the grain offering <04503 minchah> and the fat of the peace offerings.
- 1 Kings 18:29 When midday was past, they raved until the time of the offering of the evening sacrifice <04503 minchah>; but there was no voice, no one answered, and no one paid attention.
- 1 Kings 18:36 At the time of the offering of the evening **sacrifice <04503 minchah**>, Elijah the prophet came near and said, "O LORD, the God of Abraham, Isaac and Israel, today let it be known that You are God in Israel and that I am Your servant and I have done all these things at Your word.
- 1 Chronicles 16:29 Ascribe to the LORD the glory due His name; Bring an **offering <04503 minchah>**, and come before Him; Worship the LORD in holy array.
- 2 Chronicles 7:7 Then Solomon consecrated the middle of the court that was before the house of the LORD, for there he offered the burnt offerings and the fat of the peace offerings because the bronze altar which Solomon had made was not able to contain the burnt offering, the grain offering <04503 minchah> and the fat.
- Psalms 20:3 May He remember all your **meal offerings <04503 minchah>** And find your burnt offering acceptable! Selah.
- Psalms 40:6 Sacrifice and **meal offering <04503 minchah>** You have not desired; My ears You have opened; Burnt offering and sin offering You have not required.
- Psalms 45:12 The daughter of Tyre will come with a **gift <04503 minchah>**; The rich among the people will seek your favor.
- Psalms 96:8 Ascribe to the LORD the glory of His name; Bring an **offering <04503 minchah>** and come into His courts.
- Psalms 141:2 May my prayer be counted as incense before You; The lifting up of my hands as the evening offering <04503 minchah>.
- Isaiah 1:13 "Bring your worthless offerings <04503 minchah> no longer, Incense is an abomination to Me. New moon and sabbath, the calling of assemblies— I cannot endure iniquity and the solemn assembly.
- Isaiah 66:3 "But he who kills an ox is like one who slays a man; He who sacrifices a lamb is like the one who breaks a dog's neck; He who offers a grain **offering <04503 minchah>** is like one who offers swine's blood; He who burns incense is like the one who blesses an idol. As they have chosen their own ways, And their soul delights in their abominations,
- Isaiah 66:20 "Then they shall bring all your brethren from all the nations as a grain **offering** <04503 minchah> to the LORD, on horses, in chariots, in litters, on mules and on camels, to My holy mountain Jerusalem," says the LORD, "just as the sons of Israel bring their grain offering <04503 minchah> in a clean vessel to the house of the LORD.
- Jeremiah 14:12 "When they fast, I am not going to listen to their cry; and when they offer burnt offering and grain offering <04503 minchah>, I am not going to accept them. Rather I am going to make an end of them by the sword, famine and pestilence."
- Jeremiah 17:26 "They will come in from the cities of Judah and from the environs of Jerusalem, from the land of Benjamin, from the lowland, from the hill country and from the Negev, bringing burnt offerings, sacrifices, grain offerings <04503 minchah> and incense, and bringing sacrifices of thanksgiving to the house of the LORD.
- Joel 1:9 The grain **offering <04503 minchah>** and the drink offering are cut off From the house of the LORD. The priests mourn, The ministers of the LORD.

- Joel 1:13 Gird yourselves with sackcloth And lament, O priests; Wail, O ministers of the altar! Come, spend the night in sackcloth O ministers of my God, For the grain offering <04503 minchah> and the drink offering Are withheld from the house of your God.
- Amos 5:22 "Even though you offer up to Me burnt offerings and your grain offerings <04503 minchah>, I will not accept them; And I will not even look at the peace offerings of your fatlings.
- Malachi 1:10 "Oh that there were one among you who would shut the gates, that you might not uselessly kindle fire on My altar! I am not pleased with you," says the LORD of hosts, "nor will I accept an offering <04503 minchah> from you.
- Malachi 1:11 "For from the rising of the sun even to its setting, My name will be great among the nations, and in every place incense is going to be offered to My name, and a grain **offering <04503 minchah>** that is pure; for My name will be great among the nations," says the LORD of hosts.
- Malachi 1:13 "You also say, 'My, how tiresome it is!' And you disdainfully sniff at it," says the LORD of hosts, "and you bring what was taken by robbery and what is lame or sick; so you bring the offering! <04503 minchah> Should I receive that from your hand?" says the LORD.
- Malachi 2:12 "As for the man who does this, may the LORD cut off from the tents of Jacob everyone who awakes and answers, or who presents an **offering <04503 minchah>** to the LORD of hosts.
- Malachi 2:13 "This is another thing you do: you cover the altar of the LORD with tears, with weeping and with groaning, because He no longer regards the **offering <04503 minchah>** or accepts it with favor from your hand.
- Malachi 3:3 "He will sit as a smelter and purifier of silver, and He will purify the sons of Levi and refine them like gold and silver, so that they may present to the LORD offerings <04503 minchah> in righteousness.
- Malachi 3:4 "Then the **offering <04503 minchah>** of Judah and Jerusalem will be pleasing to the LORD as in the days of old and as in former years.

05930 עלה 'olah (o-law') or יעלה 'owlah (o-law')

from 05927; TWOT-1624c, 1624d; n f; whole burnt offering:—

NAS-burnt offering (207), burnt offerings (80).

AV-burnt offering 264, burnt sacrifice 21, ascent 1, go up 1; 289

- 1) whole burnt offering
- 2) ascent, stairway, steps

Scriptures: 289 verses, too extensive to print

Tithing: New Covenant

586 αποδεκατευω apodekatoo (ap-od-ek-at-o'-o)

from 575, 586 and 1183; v; to pay a tenth of, tithe:—

NAS-collect a tenth (1), pay tithe (2), tithe (1).

AV-pay tithe 1, tithe 1, give tithe 1, take tithe 1; 4

- 1) to give, pay a tithe of anything
- 2) to exact receive a tenth from anyone

Matthew 23:23 "Woe to you, scribes and Pharisees, hypocrites! For you **tithe <586 apodekatoo>** mint and dill and cummin, and have neglected the weightier provisions of the law: justice and mercy and faithfulness; but these are the things you should have done without neglecting the others.

Luke 11:42 "But woe to you Pharisees! For you pay tithe <586 apodekatoo> of mint and rue and every *kind of* garden herb, and *yet* disregard justice and the love of God; but these are the things you should have done without neglecting the others.

Luke 18:12 'I fast twice a week; I pay tithes <586 apodekatoo> of all that I get.'

Hebrews 7:5 And those indeed of the sons of Levi who receive the priest's office have commandment in the Law to **collect a tenth <586 apodekatoo>** from the people, that is, from their brethren, although these are descended from Abraham.

1181 δεκατη dekate (dek-at'-ay)

from 1176; feminine of 1182; ; adj; a tenth part, a tithe:—

NAS-tenth (1), tenth part (1), tithes (2).

AV-tithe 2, tenth part 1, tenth 1; 4

- 1) a tenth part of anything, a tithe
 - 1a) the tenth party of booty taken from an enemy
 - 1b) the tithes of fruits of the earth and of flocks, which by the law of Moses were presented to the Levites in the congregation of Israel

Hebrews 7:2 to whom also Abraham apportioned a **tenth part <1181 dekate>** of all *the spoils*, was first of all, by the translation *of his name*, king of righteousness, and then also king of Salem, which is king of peace.

Hebrews 7:4 Now observe how great this man was to whom Abraham, the patriarch, gave a **tenth <1181 dekate>** of the choicest spoils.

Hebrews 7:8 In this case mortal men receive **tithes <1181 dekate>**, but in that case one *receives them*, of whom it is witnessed that he lives on.

Hebrews 7:9 And, so to speak, through Abraham even Levi, who received **tithes <1181 dekate>**, paid tithes,

Offering: New Covenant

1435 δωρον **doron** (*do'-ron*)

from 1325; a present; TDNT-2:166,166; n; a gift, present, spec. a sacrifice:—

NAS-gift (1), gifts (8), given (2), offering (8).

AV-gift 18, offering 1; 19

- 1) a gift, present
 - 1a) gifts offered in expression of honour
 - 1a1) of sacrifices and other gifts offered to God
 - 1a2) of money cast into the treasury for the purposes of the temple and for the support of the poor
- 2) the offering of a gift or of gifts

For Synonyms see entry <u>5839</u>

- Matthew 2:11 After coming into the house they saw the Child with Mary His mother; and they fell to the ground and worshiped Him. Then, opening their treasures, they presented to Him **gifts <1435 doron>** of gold, frankincense, and myrrh.
- Matthew 5:23 "Therefore if you are presenting your **offering <1435 doron>** at the altar, and there remember that your brother has something against you,
- Matthew 5:24 leave your **offering <1435 doron>** there before the altar and go; first be reconciled to your brother, and then come and present your **offering <1435 doron>**.
- Matthew 8:4 And Jesus *said to him, "See that you tell no one; but go, show yourself to the priest and present the **offering <1435 doron>** that Moses commanded, as a testimony to them."
- Matthew 15:5 "But you say, 'Whoever says to *his* father or mother, "Whatever I have that would help you has been **given <1435 doron>** to God,"
- Matthew 23:18 "And, 'Whoever swears by the altar, *that* is nothing, but whoever swears by the **offering <1435 doron>** on it, he is obligated.'
- Matthew 23:19 "You blind men, which is more important, the **offering <1435 doron>**, or the altar that sanctifies the **offering <1435 doron>**?
- Mark 7:11 but you say, 'If a man says to *his* father or *his* mother, whatever I have that would help you is Corban (that is to say, **given <1435 doron>** to God), '
- Luke 21:1 And He looked up and saw the rich putting their **gifts <1435 doron>** into the treasury.
- Luke 21:4 for they all out of their surplus put into the **offering <1435 doron>**; but she out of her poverty put in all that she had to live on."
- Ephesians 2:8 For by grace you have been saved through faith; and that not of yourselves, *it is* the **gift <1435 doron>** of God;
- Hebrews 5:1 For every high priest taken from among men is appointed on behalf of men in things pertaining to God, in order to offer both gifts <1435 doron> and sacrifices for sins;
- Hebrews 8:3 For every high priest is appointed to offer both **gifts <1435 doron>** and sacrifices; so it is necessary that this *high priest* also have something to offer.
- Hebrews 8:4 Now if He were on earth, He would not be a priest at all, since there are those who offer the **gifts <1435 doron>** according to the Law;
- Hebrews 9:9 which *is* a symbol for the present time. Accordingly both **gifts <1435 doron>** and sacrifices are offered which cannot make the worshiper perfect in conscience,
- Hebrews 11:4 By faith Abel offered to God a better sacrifice than Cain, through which he obtained the testimony that he was righteous, God testifying about his **gifts <1435 doron>**, and through faith, though he is dead, he still speaks.
- Revelation 11:10 And those who dwell on the earth *will* rejoice over them and celebrate; and they will send **gifts <1435 doron>** to one another, because these two prophets tormented those who dwell on the earth.

4374 προσφερω prosphero (pros-fer'-o)

from 4314 and 5342 (including its alternate); TDNT-9:65,1252; v; to bring to, i.e. to offer:— **NAS**-bringing (2), brought (12), deals (1), get (1), make an offering (1), offer (8), offered (12), offering (4), offers (1), present (2), presented (1), presenting (1).

AV-offer 22, bring unto 10, bring to 4, bring 3, offer up 3, offer unto 1, offer to 1, misc 4; 48 1) to bring to, lead to

- 1a) one to a person who can heal him or is ready to show him some kindness, one to a person who is to judge him
- 1b) to bring a present or a thing, to reach or hand a thing to one
- 1c) to put to
- 2) to be borne towards one, to attack, assail
 - 2a) to behave one's self towards one, deal with one
- Matthew 2:11 After coming into the house they saw the Child with Mary His mother; and they fell to the ground and worshiped Him. Then, opening their treasures, they **presented <4374 prosphero>** to Him gifts of gold, frankincense, and myrrh.
- Matthew 4:24 The news about Him spread throughout all Syria; and they **brought** <4374 **prosphero**> to Him all who were ill, those suffering with various diseases and pains, demoniacs, epileptics, paralytics; and He healed them.
- Matthew 5:23 "Therefore if you are **presenting <4374 prosphero>** your offering at the altar, and there remember that your brother has something against you,
- Matthew 5:24 leave your offering there before the altar and go; first be reconciled to your brother, and then come and **present <4374 prosphero>** your offering.
- Matthew 8:4 And Jesus *said to him, "See that you tell no one; but go, show yourself to the priest and **present <4374 prosphero>** the offering that Moses commanded, as a testimony to them."
- Matthew 8:16 When evening came, they **brought <4374 prosphero>** to Him many who were demon-possessed; and He cast out the spirits with a word, and healed all who were ill.
- Matthew 9:2 And they **brought <4374 prosphero>** to Him a paralytic lying on a bed. Seeing their faith, Jesus said to the paralytic, "Take courage, son; your sins are forgiven."
- Matthew 9:32 As they were going out, a mute, demon-possessed man was **brought <4374 prosphero>** to Him.
- Matthew 12:22 Then a demon-possessed man *who was* blind and mute was **brought <4374 prosphero>** to Jesus, and He healed him, so that the mute man spoke and saw.
- Matthew 14:35 And when the men of that place recognized Him, they sent *word* into all that surrounding district and **brought <4374 prosphero>** to Him all who were sick;
- Matthew 17:16 "I brought <4374 prosphero> him to Your disciples, and they could not cure him."
- Matthew 19:13 Then *some* children were **brought <4374 prosphero>** to Him so that He might lay His hands on them and pray; and the disciples rebuked them.
- Matthew 22:19 "Show Me the coin *used* for the poll-tax." And they **brought <4374 prosphero>** Him a denarius.
- Matthew 25:20 "The one who had received the five talents came up and **brought <4374 prosphero>** five more talents, saying, 'Master, you entrusted five talents to me. See, I have gained five more talents.'

- Mark 1:44 and He *said to him, "See that you say nothing to anyone; but go, show yourself to the priest and offer <4374 prosphero> for your cleansing what Moses commanded, as a testimony to them."
- Mark 2:4 Being unable to **get <4374 prosphero>** to Him because of the crowd, they removed the roof above Him; and when they had dug an opening, they let down the pallet on which the paralytic was lying.
- Mark 10:13 And they were **bringing <4374 prosphero>** children to Him so that He might touch them; but the disciples rebuked them.
- Luke 5:14 And He ordered him to tell no one, "But go and show yourself to the priest and make an offering <4374 prosphero> for your cleansing, just as Moses commanded, as a testimony to them."
- Luke 18:15 And they were **bringing <4374 prosphero>** even their babies to Him so that He would touch them, but when the disciples saw it, they *began* rebuking them.
- Luke 23:14 and said to them, "You **brought <4374 prosphero>** this man to me as one who incites the people to rebellion, and behold, having examined Him before you, I have found no guilt in this man regarding the charges which you make against Him.
- Luke 23:36 The soldiers also mocked Him, coming up to Him, offering <4374 prosphero> Him sour wine,
- John 16:2 "They will make you outcasts from the synagogue, but an hour is coming for everyone who kills you to think that he is **offering <4374 prosphero>** service to God.
- John 19:29 A jar full of sour wine was standing there; so they put a sponge full of the sour wine upon *a branch of* hyssop and **brought** <4374 prosphero> it up to His mouth.
- Acts 7:42 "But God turned away and delivered them up to serve the host of heaven; as it is written in the book of the prophets, 'IT WAS NOT TO ME THAT YOU **OFFERED** <4374 **prosphero**> VICTIMS AND SACRIFICES FORTY YEARS IN THE WILDERNESS, WAS IT, O HOUSE OF ISRAEL?
- Acts 8:18 Now when Simon saw that the Spirit was bestowed through the laying on of the apostles' hands, he offered <4374 prosphero> them money,
- Acts 21:26 Then Paul took the men, and the next day, purifying himself along with them, went into the temple giving notice of the completion of the days of purification, until the sacrifice was **offered <4374 prosphero>** for each one of them.
- Hebrews 5:1 For every high priest taken from among men is appointed on behalf of men in things pertaining to God, in order to **offer <4374 prosphero>** both gifts and sacrifices for sins;
- Hebrews 5:3 and because of it he is obligated to **offer <4374 prosphero>** sacrifices for sins, as for the people, so also for himself.
- Hebrews 5:7 In the days of His flesh, He offered <4374 prosphero> up both prayers and supplications with loud crying and tears to the One able to save Him from death, and He was heard because of His piety.
- Hebrews 8:3 For every high priest is appointed to **offer <4374 prosphero>** both gifts and sacrifices; so it is necessary that this *high priest* also have something to **offer <4374 prosphero>**.
- Hebrews 8:4 Now if He were on earth, He would not be a priest at all, since there are those who **offer <4374 prosphero>** the gifts according to the Law;

- Hebrews 9:7 but into the second, only the high priest *enters* once a year, not without *taking* blood, which he **offers** <**4374 prosphero**> for himself and for the sins of the people committed in ignorance.
- Hebrews 9:9 which *is* a symbol for the present time. Accordingly both gifts and sacrifices are **offered** <4374 prosphero> which cannot make the worshiper perfect in conscience,
- Hebrews 9:14 how much more will the blood of Christ, who through the eternal Spirit offered <4374 prosphero> Himself without blemish to God, cleanse your conscience from dead works to serve the living God?
- Hebrews 9:25 nor was it that He would **offer <4374 prosphero>** Himself often, as the high priest enters the holy place year by year with blood that is not his own.
- Hebrews 9:28 so Christ also, having been **offered <4374 prosphero>** once to bear the sins of many, will appear a second time for salvation without *reference to* sin, to those who eagerly await Him.
- Hebrews 10:1 For the Law, since it has *only* a shadow of the good things to come *and* not the very form of things, can never, by the same sacrifices which they **offer <4374 prosphero>** continually year by year, make perfect those who draw near.
- Hebrews 10:2 Otherwise, would they not have ceased to be **offered <4374 prosphero>**, because the worshipers, having once been cleansed, would no longer have had consciousness of sins?
- Hebrews 10:8 After saying above, "SACRIFICES AND OFFERINGS AND WHOLE BURNT OFFERINGS AND *sacrifices* FOR SIN YOU HAVE NOT DESIRED, NOR HAVE YOU TAKEN PLEASURE *in them*" (which are **offered <4374 prosphero**> according to the Law),
- Hebrews 10:11 Every priest stands daily ministering and **offering <4374 prosphero>** time after time the same sacrifices, which can never take away sins;
- Hebrews 10:12 but He, having **offered <4374 prosphero>** one sacrifice for sins for all time, SAT DOWN AT THE RIGHT HAND OF GOD,
- Hebrews 11:4 By faith Abel **offered <4374 prosphero>** to God a better sacrifice than Cain, through which he obtained the testimony that he was righteous, God testifying about his gifts, and through faith, though he is dead, he still speaks.
- Hebrews 11:17 By faith Abraham, when he was tested, **offered <4374 prosphero>** up Isaac, and he who had received the promises was **offering <4374 prosphero>** up his only begotten *son*;
- Hebrews 12:7 It is for discipline that you endure; God deals <4374 prosphero> with you as with sons; for what son is there whom *his* father does not discipline?

4376 προσφορα prosphora (*pros-for-ah*')

from 4374; TDNT-9:68,1252; n f; an offering:—

NAS-offering (6), offerings (2), sacrifice (1).

AV-offering 8, offering up 1; 9

- 1) the act of offering, a bringing to
- 2) that which is offered, a gift, a present. In the NT a sacrifice, whether bloody or not: offering for sin, expiatory offering
- Acts 21:26 Then Paul took the men, and the next day, purifying himself along with them, went into the temple giving notice of the completion of the days of purification, until the **sacrifice** <4376 prosphora> was offered for each one of them.

- Acts 24:17 "Now after several years I came to bring alms to my nation and to present **offerings** <4376 prosphora>;
- Romans 15:16 to be a minister of Christ Jesus to the Gentiles, ministering as a priest the gospel of God, so that *my* **offering <4376 prosphora>** of the Gentiles may become acceptable, sanctified by the Holy Spirit.
- Ephesians 5:2 and walk in love, just as Christ also loved you and gave Himself up for us, an **offering <4376 prosphora>** and a sacrifice to God as a fragrant aroma.
- Hebrews 10:5 Therefore, when He comes into the world, He says, "SACRIFICE AND **OFFERING <4376 prosphora>** YOU HAVE NOT DESIRED, BUT A BODY YOU HAVE PREPARED FOR ME;
- Hebrews 10:8 After saying above, "SACRIFICES AND **OFFERINGS <4376 prosphora>** AND WHOLE BURNT OFFERINGS AND *sacrifices* FOR SIN YOU HAVE NOT DESIRED, NOR HAVE YOU TAKEN PLEASURE *in them"* (which are offered according to the Law),
- Hebrews 10:10 By this will we have been sanctified through the **offering <4376 prosphora>** of the body of Jesus Christ once for all.
- Hebrews 10:14 For by one **offering <4376 prosphora>** He has perfected for all time those who are sanctified.
- Hebrews 10:18 Now where there is forgiveness of these things, there is no longer *any* **offering** <4376 prosphora> for sin.

Sacrifice: New Covenant

2378 θυσια thusia (thoo-see'-ah)

from 2380; TDNT-3:180,342; n f; a sacrifice:—NAS-sacrifice (14), sacrifices (14). AV-sacrifice 29; 29
1) a sacrifice, victim

- Matthew 9:13 "But go and learn what this means: 'I DESIRE COMPASSION, AND NOT **SACRIFICE <2378 thusia>**,' for I did not come to call the righteous, but sinners."
- Matthew 12:7 "But if you had known what this means, 'I DESIRE COMPASSION, AND NOT A **SACRIFICE** <2378 thusia>,' you would not have condemned the innocent.
- Mark 12:33 AND TO LOVE HIM WITH ALL THE HEART AND WITH ALL THE UNDERSTANDING AND WITH ALL THE STRENGTH, AND TO LOVE ONE'S NEIGHBOR AS HIMSELF, is much more than all burnt offerings and sacrifices <2378 thusia>."
- Luke 2:24 and to offer a **sacrifice <2378 thusia>** according to what was said in the Law of the Lord, "A PAIR OF TURTLEDOVES OR TWO YOUNG PIGEONS."
- Luke 13:1 Now on the same occasion there were some present who reported to Him about the Galileans whose blood Pilate had mixed with their sacrifices <2378 thusia>.
- Acts 7:41 "At that time they made a calf and brought a **sacrifice <2378 thusia>** to the idol, and were rejoicing in the works of their hands.
- Acts 7:42 "But God turned away and delivered them up to serve the host of heaven; as it is written in the book of the prophets, 'IT WAS NOT TO ME THAT YOU OFFERED

- VICTIMS AND **SACRIFICES** <2378 thusia> FORTY YEARS IN THE WILDERNESS, WAS IT, O HOUSE OF ISRAEL?
- Romans 12:1 Therefore I urge you, brethren, by the mercies of God, to present your bodies a living and holy **sacrifice <2378 thusia>**, acceptable to God, *which is* your spiritual service of worship.
- 1 Corinthians 10:18 Look at the nation Israel; are not those who eat the **sacrifices <2378 thusia>** sharers in the altar?
- Ephesians 5:2 and walk in love, just as Christ also loved you and gave Himself up for us, an offering and a sacrifice <2378 thusia> to God as a fragrant aroma.
- Philippians 2:17 But even if I am being poured out as a drink offering upon the **sacrifice <2378 thusia>** and service of your faith, I rejoice and share my joy with you all.
- Philippians 4:18 But I have received everything in full and have an abundance; I am amply supplied, having received from Epaphroditus what you have sent, a fragrant aroma, an acceptable **sacrifice <2378 thusia>**, well-pleasing to God.
- Hebrews 5:1 For every high priest taken from among men is appointed on behalf of men in things pertaining to God, in order to offer both gifts and sacrifices <2378 thusia> for sins;
- Hebrews 7:27 who does not need daily, like those high priests, to offer up **sacrifices <2378 thusia>**, first for His own sins and then for the *sins* of the people, because this He did once for all when He offered up Himself.
- Hebrews 8:3 For every high priest is appointed to offer both gifts and sacrifices <2378 thusia>; so it is necessary that this *high priest* also have something to offer.
- Hebrews 9:9 which *is* a symbol for the present time. Accordingly both gifts and **sacrifices** <2378 thusia> are offered which cannot make the worshiper perfect in conscience,
- Hebrews 9:23 Therefore it was necessary for the copies of the things in the heavens to be cleansed with these, but the heavenly things themselves with better **sacrifices <2378 thusia>** than these.
- Hebrews 9:26 Otherwise, He would have needed to suffer often since the foundation of the world; but now once at the consummation of the ages He has been manifested to put away sin by the **sacrifice <2378 thusia>** of Himself.
- Hebrews 10:1 For the Law, since it has *only* a shadow of the good things to come *and* not the very form of things, can never, by the same **sacrifices** <**2378 thusia**> which they offer continually year by year, make perfect those who draw near.
- Hebrews 10:5 Therefore, when He comes into the world, He says, "SACRIFICE <2378 thusia> AND OFFERING YOU HAVE NOT DESIRED, BUT A BODY YOU HAVE PREPARED FOR ME;
- Hebrews 10:8 After saying above, "SACRIFICES <2378 thusia> AND OFFERINGS AND WHOLE BURNT OFFERINGS AND sacrifices FOR SIN YOU HAVE NOT DESIRED, NOR HAVE YOU TAKEN PLEASURE in them" (which are offered according to the Law),
- Hebrews 10:11 Every priest stands daily ministering and offering time after time the same sacrifices <2378 thusia>, which can never take away sins;
- Hebrews 10:12 but He, having offered one **sacrifice <2378 thusia>** for sins for all time, SAT DOWN AT THE RIGHT HAND OF GOD,
- Hebrews 10:26 For if we go on sinning willfully after receiving the knowledge of the truth, there no longer remains a sacrifice <2378 thusia> for sins,

- Hebrews 11:4 By faith Abel offered to God a better **sacrifice <2378 thusia>** than Cain, through which he obtained the testimony that he was righteous, God testifying about his gifts, and through faith, though he is dead, he still speaks.
- Hebrews 13:15 Through Him then, let us continually offer up a **sacrifice <2378 thusia>** of praise to God, that is, the fruit of lips that give thanks to His name.
- Hebrews 13:16 And do not neglect doing good and sharing, for with such sacrifices <2378 thusia> God is pleased.
- 1 Peter 2:5 you also, as living stones, are being built up as a spiritual house for a holy priesthood, to offer up spiritual **sacrifices** <2378 thusia> acceptable to God through Jesus Christ.

2380 θυω thuo (thoo'-o)

a root word; TDNT-3:180,342; v; to offer, sacrifice:—

NAS-butchered (1), kill (4), killed (2), offer sacrifice (1), offering sacrifice (1), sacrifice (2), sacrificed (3).

AV-kill 8, sacrifice 3, do sacrifice 2, slay 1; 14

- 1) to sacrifice, immolate
- 2) to slay, kill (2a) of the paschal lamb
- 3) slaughter
- Matthew 22:4 "Again he sent out other slaves saying, 'Tell those who have been invited, "Behold, I have prepared my dinner; my oxen and my fattened livestock are *all* **butchered** <2380 thuo> and everything is ready; come to the wedding feast."'
- Mark 14:12 On the first day of Unleavened Bread, when the Passover *lamb* was being sacrificed <2380 thuo>, His disciples *said to Him, "Where do You want us to go and prepare for You to eat the Passover?"
- Luke 15:23 and bring the fattened calf, kill <2380 thuo it, and let us eat and celebrate;
- Luke 15:27 "And he said to him, 'Your brother has come, and your father has killed <2380 thuo> the fattened calf because he has received him back safe and sound.'
- Luke 15:30 but when this son of yours came, who has devoured your wealth with prostitutes, you **killed <2380 thuo>** the fattened calf for him.'
- Luke 22:7 Then came the *first* day of Unleavened Bread on which the Passover *lamb* had to be sacrificed <2380 thuo>.
- John 10:10 "The thief comes only to steal and kill <2380 thuo> and destroy; I came that they may have life, and have it abundantly.
- Acts 10:13 A voice came to him, "Get up, Peter, kill <2380 thuo> and eat!"
- Acts 11:7 "I also heard a voice saying to me, 'Get up, Peter; kill <2380 thuo> and eat.'
- Acts 14:13 The priest of Zeus, whose *temple* was just outside the city, brought oxen and garlands to the gates, and wanted to **offer sacrifice** <2380 thuo> with the crowds.
- Acts 14:18 *Even* saying these things, with difficulty they restrained the crowds from **offering** sacrifice <2380 thuo> to them.
- 1 Corinthians 5:7 Clean out the old leaven so that you may be a new lump, just as you are *in fact* unleavened. For Christ our Passover also has been **sacrificed <2380 thuo>**.
- 1 Corinthians 10:20 *No*, but *I say* that the things which the Gentiles **sacrifice <2380 thuo**>, they **sacrifice <2380 thuo**> to demons and not to God; and I do not want you to become sharers in demons.

1494 ειδωλοθυτον eidolothuton (i-do-loth'-oo-ton)

- neuter of a compound of <u>1497</u> and a presumed derivative of <u>2380</u>; TDNT-2:378,202; adj; sacrificed to idols:—
- NAS-sacrificed to an idol (1), sacrificed to idols (1), thing sacrificed (1), thing sacrificed to idols (1), things sacrificed (6), things sacrificed to idols (6).
- AV-things offered unto idols 4, things offered in sacrifice to idols 3, things sacrificed unto idols 2, meats offered to idols 1; 10
- 1) sacrificed to idols, the flesh left over from the heathen sacrifices
 1a) it was either eaten at the feasts or sold (by the poor and the miserly) in the market
- Acts 15:29 that you abstain from **things sacrificed to idols <1494 eidolothuton>** and from blood and from things strangled and from fornication; if you keep yourselves free from such things, you will do well. Farewell."
- Acts 21:25 "But concerning the Gentiles who have believed, we wrote, having decided that they should abstain from meat **sacrificed to idols <1494 eidolothuton>** and from blood and from what is strangled and from fornication."
- 1 Corinthians 8:1 Now concerning **things sacrificed to idols <1494 eidolothuton>**, we know that we all have knowledge. Knowledge makes arrogant, but love edifies.
- 1 Corinthians 8:4 Therefore concerning the eating of **things sacrificed to idols <1494 eidolothuton>**, we know that there is no such thing as an idol in the world, and that there is no God but one.
- 1 Corinthians 8:7 However not all men have this knowledge; but some, being accustomed to the idol until now, eat *food* as if it were **sacrificed to an idol <1494 eidolothuton>**; and their conscience being weak is defiled.
- 1 Corinthians 8:10 For if someone sees you, who have knowledge, dining in an idol's temple, will not his conscience, if he is weak, be strengthened to eat **things sacrificed to idols <1494** eidolothuton>?
- 1 Corinthians 10:19 What do I mean then? That a **thing sacrificed to idols <1494 eidolothuton>** is anything, or that an idol is anything?
- Revelation 2:14 'But I have a few things against you, because you have there some who hold the teaching of Balaam, who kept teaching Balak to put a stumbling block before the sons of Israel, to eat **things sacrificed to idols <1494 eidolothuton>** and to commit *acts of* immorality.
- Revelation 2:20 'But I have *this* against you, that you tolerate the woman Jezebel, who calls herself a prophetess, and she teaches and leads My bond-servants astray so that they commit *acts of* immorality and eat **things sacrificed to idols <1494 eidolothuton>**.

Gifts: New Covenant

1431 δωρεα dorea (do-reh-ah')

from 1435, 1325; TDNT-2:166,166; n f; from; *a gift:*—
NAS-freely (1), gift (12), needlessly (1), without a cause (1), without charge (1), without cost (2), without paying (1).
AV-gift 11; 11
1) a gift
For Synonyms see entry 5839

- Matthew 10:8 "Heal *the* sick, raise *the* dead, cleanse *the* lepers, cast out demons. Freely you received, **freely <1431 dorea>** give.
- John 4:10 Jesus answered and said to her, "If you knew the **gift <1431 dorea>** of God, and who it is who says to you, 'Give Me a drink,' you would have asked Him, and He would have given you living water."
- John 15:25 "But *they have done this* to fulfill the word that is written in their Law, 'THEY HATED ME **WITHOUT A CAUSE <1431 dorea>**.'
- Acts 2:38 Peter *said* to them, "Repent, and each of you be baptized in the name of Jesus Christ for the forgiveness of your sins; and you will receive the **gift <1431 dorea>** of the Holy Spirit.
- Acts 8:20 But Peter said to him, "May your silver perish with you, because you thought you could obtain the **gift <1431 dorea>** of God with money!
- Acts 10:45 All the circumcised believers who came with Peter were amazed, because the **gift** <1431 dorea> of the Holy Spirit had been poured out on the Gentiles also.
- Acts 11:17 "Therefore if God gave to them the same **gift <1431 dorea>** as *He gave* to us also after believing in the Lord Jesus Christ, who was I that I could stand in God's way?"
- Romans 3:24 being justified as a **gift <1431 dorea>** by His grace through the redemption which is in Christ Jesus;
- Romans 5:15 But the free gift is not like the transgression. For if by the transgression of the one the many died, much more did the grace of God and the **gift <1431 dorea>** by the grace of the one Man, Jesus Christ, abound to the many.
- Romans 5:17 For if by the transgression of the one, death reigned through the one, much more those who receive the abundance of grace and of the **gift <1431 dorea>** of righteousness will reign in life through the One, Jesus Christ.
- 2 Corinthians 9:15 Thanks be to God for His indescribable gift <1431 dorea>!
- 2 Corinthians 11:7 Or did I commit a sin in humbling myself so that you might be exalted, because I preached the gospel of God to you without charge <1431 dorea>?
- Galatians 2:21 "I do not nullify the grace of God, for if righteousness *comes* through the Law, then Christ died **needlessly <1431 dorea>**."
- Ephesians 3:7 of which I was made a minister, according to the **gift <1431 dorea>** of God's grace which was given to me according to the working of His power.
- Ephesians 4:7 But to each one of us grace was given according to the measure of Christ's **gift** <1431 dorea>.

- 2 Thessalonians 3:8 nor did we eat anyone's bread **without paying <1431 dorea>** for it, but with labor and hardship we *kept* working night and day so that we would not be a burden to any of you;
- Hebrews 6:4 For in the case of those who have once been enlightened and have tasted of the heavenly gift <1431 dorea> and have been made partakers of the Holy Spirit,
- Revelation 21:6 Then He said to me, "It is done. I am the Alpha and the Omega, the beginning and the end. I will give to the one who thirsts from the spring of the water of life without cost <1431 dorea>.
- Revelation 22:17 The Spirit and the bride say, "Come." And let the one who hears say, "Come." And let the one who is thirsty come; let the one who wishes take the water of life **without** cost <1431 dorea>.

1432 δωρεαν dorean (do-reh-an')

accusative case of <u>1431</u> as adverb; TDNT-2:167,166; adj; as a gift, to no purpose:—NAS-freely (1).

AV-freely 6, without a cause 1, in vain 1, for nought 1; 9

1) freely, undeservedly

Matthew 10:8 "Heal *the* sick, raise *the* dead, cleanse *the* lepers, cast out demons. Freely <1432 dorean> you received, freely give.

1433 δωρεομαι doreomai (do-reh'-om-ahee)

middle voice from 1435; TDNT-2:166,166; v; to give, present, bestow:—NAS-granted (3).
AV-give 3; 3
1) to present, bestow
For Synonyms see entry 5836

- Mark 15:45 And ascertaining this from the centurion, he **granted <1433 doreomai>** the body to Joseph.
- 2 Peter 1:3 seeing that His divine power has **granted <1433 doreomai>** to us everything pertaining to life and godliness, through the true knowledge of Him who called us by His own glory and excellence.
- 2 Peter 1:4 For by these He has **granted <1433 doreomai>** to us His precious and magnificent promises, so that by them you may become partakers of *the* divine nature, having escaped the corruption that is in the world by lust.

1434 δωρημα dorema (do'-ray-mah)

from 1433; TDNT-2:166,166; n n; a gift, a bestowment:—NAS-gift (2).
AV-gift 2; 2
1) a gift, bounty, benefaction

Romans 5:16 The **gift <1434 dorema>** is not like *that which came* through the one who sinned; for on the one hand the judgment *arose* from one *transgression* resulting in condemnation, but on the other hand the free gift *arose* from many transgressions resulting in justification.

James 1:17 Every good thing given and every perfect **gift <1434 dorema>** is from above,

ames 1:17 Every good thing given and every perfect **gift <1434 dorema>** is from above, coming down from the Father of lights, with whom there is no variation or shifting shadow.

1390 δομα doma (dom'-ah)

from the base of 1325; ; n n; *a gift:*—NAS-gift (1), gifts (3). AV-gift 4; 4 1) a gift
For Synonyms see entry 5839

Matthew 7:11 "If you then, being evil, know how to give good **gifts <1390 doma>** to your children, how much more will your Father who is in heaven give what is good to those who ask Him!

Luke 11:13 "If you then, being evil, know how to give good **gifts <1390 doma>** to your children, how much more will *your* heavenly Father give the Holy Spirit to those who ask Him?"

Ephesians 4:8 Therefore it says, "WHEN HE ASCENDED ON HIGH, HE LED CAPTIVE A HOST OF CAPTIVES, AND HE GAVE GIFTS <1390 doma> TO MEN."

Philippians 4:17 Not that I seek the **gift <1390 doma>** itself, but I seek for the profit which increases to your account.

334 αναθημα anathema (an-ath'-ay-mah)

from 394 [like 331, but in a good sense]; TDNT-1:354,57; n n; a gift set up (in a temple):—NAS-votive gifts (1); AV-gift 1; 1

1) a gift consecrated and laid up in a temple (2) an offering resulting from a vow

Luke 21:5 And while some were talking about the temple, that it was adorned with beautiful stones and votive gifts <334 anathema>, He said,

5486 χαρισμα charisma (khar'-is-mah)

from 5483; TDNT-9:402,1298; n n; a gift of grace, a free gift:—NAS-favor (1), free gift (3), gift (5), gifts (7), spiritual gift (1). AV-gift 15, free gift 2; 17

- 1) a favour with which one receives without any merit of his own
- 2) the gift of divine grace
- 3) the gift of faith, knowledge, holiness, virtue
- 4) the economy of divine grace, by which the pardon of sin and eternal salvation is appointed to sinners in consideration of the merits of Christ laid hold of by faith
- 5) grace or gifts denoting extraordinary powers, distinguishing certain Christians and enabling them to serve the church of Christ, the reception of which is due to the power of divine grace operating on their souls by the Holy Spirit

Romans 1:11 For I long to see you so that I may impart some spiritual **gift <5486 charisma>** to you, that you may be established;

- Romans 5:15 But the **free gift <5486 charisma>** is not like the transgression. For if by the transgression of the one the many died, much more did the grace of God and the gift by the grace of the one Man, Jesus Christ, abound to the many.
- Romans 5:16 The gift is not like *that which came* through the one who sinned; for on the one hand the judgment *arose* from one *transgression* resulting in condemnation, but on the other hand the **free gift <5486 charisma>** *arose* from many transgressions resulting in justification.
- Romans 6:23 For the wages of sin is death, but the **free gift <5486 charisma>** of God is eternal life in Christ Jesus our Lord.
- Romans 11:29 for the **gifts <5486 charisma>** and the calling of God are irrevocable.
- Romans 12:6 Since we have **gifts <5486 charisma>** that differ according to the grace given to us, *each of us is to exercise them accordingly:* if prophecy, according to the proportion of his faith;
- 1 Corinthians 1:7 so that you are not lacking in any **gift <5486 charisma>**, awaiting eagerly the revelation of our Lord Jesus Christ,
- 1 Corinthians 7:7 Yet I wish that all men were even as I myself am. However, each man has his own **gift <5486 charisma>** from God, one in this manner, and another in that.
- 1 Corinthians 12:4 Now there are varieties of gifts <5486 charisma>, but the same Spirit.
- 1 Corinthians 12:9 to another faith by the same Spirit, and to another **gifts <5486 charisma>** of healing by the one Spirit,
- 1 Corinthians 12:28 And God has appointed in the church, first apostles, second prophets, third teachers, then miracles, then **gifts <5486 charisma>** of healings, helps, administrations, *various* kinds of tongues.
- 1 Corinthians 12:30 All do not have **gifts <5486 charisma>** of healings, do they? All do not speak with tongues, do they? All do not interpret, do they?
- 1 Corinthians 12:31 But earnestly desire the greater **gifts <5486 charisma>**. And I show you a still more excellent way.
- 2 Corinthians 1:11 you also joining in helping us through your prayers, so that thanks may be given by many persons on our behalf for the **favor <5486 charisma>** bestowed on us through *the prayers of* many.
- 1 Timothy 4:14 Do not neglect the **spiritual gift <5486 charisma>** within you, which was bestowed on you through prophetic utterance with the laying on of hands by the presbytery.
- 2 Timothy 1:6 For this reason I remind you to kindle afresh the **gift <5486 charisma>** of God which is in you through the laying on of my hands.
- 1 Peter 4:10 As each one has received a *special* **gift <5486 charisma>**, employ it in serving one another as good stewards of the manifold grace of God.

3311 μερισμος merismos (mer-is-mos')

from 3307; ; n m; a dividing, distribution:—

NAS-division (1), gifts (1); AV-gift 1, dividing asunder 1; 2

- 1) a division, partition (a) distribution (of various kinds)
- 2) a separation (a) so far as to cleave asunder or separate

Hebrews 2:4 God also testifying with them, both by signs and wonders and by various miracles and by gifts <3311 merismos> of the Holy Spirit according to His own will.

Hebrews 4:12 For the word of God is living and active and sharper than any two-edged sword, and piercing as far as the **division <3311 merismos>** of soul and spirit, of both joints and marrow, and able to judge the thoughts and intentions of the heart.

1654 ελεημοσυνη eleemosune (el-eh-ay-mos-oo'-nay)

from 1656; TDNT-2:485,222; n f; mercy, pity, spec. alms:—

NAS-alms (7), charity (3), giving (1).

AV-alms 13, almsdeeds 1; 14

- 1) mercy, pity
 - 1a) esp. as exhibited in giving alms, charity
- 2) the benefaction itself, a donation to the poor, alms
- Matthew 6:4 That thine alms <1654 eleemosune> may be in secret: and thy Father which seeth in secret himself shall reward thee openly.
- Luke 11:41 But rather give alms <1654 eleemosune> of such things as ye have; and, behold, all things are clean unto you.
- Luke 12:33 Sell that ye have, and give **alms <1654 eleemosune>**; provide yourselves bags which wax not old, a treasure in the heavens that faileth not, where no thief approacheth, neither moth corrupteth.
- Acts 3:2 And a certain man lame from his mother's womb was carried, whom they laid daily at the gate of the temple which is called Beautiful, to ask alms <1654 eleemosune> of them that entered into the temple:
- Acts 3:3 Who seeing Peter and John about to go into the temple asked an alms <1654 eleemosune>.
- Acts 3:10 And they knew that it was he which sat for alms <1654 eleemosune> at the Beautiful gate of the temple: and they were filled with wonder and amazement at that which had happened unto him.
- Acts 9:36 Now there was at Joppa a certain disciple named Tabitha, which by interpretation is called Dorcas: this woman was full of good works and almsdeeds <1654 eleemosune> which she did.
- Acts 10:2 A devout man, and one that feared God with all his house, which gave much alms <1654 eleemosune> to the people, and prayed to God alway.
- Acts 10:4 And when he looked on him, he was afraid, and said, What is it, Lord? And he said unto him, Thy prayers and thine alms <1654 eleemosune> are come up for a memorial before God.
- Acts 10:31 And said, Cornelius, thy prayer is heard, and thine **alms <1654 eleemosune>** are had in remembrance in the sight of God.
- Acts 24:17 Now after many years I came to bring **alms <1654 eleemosune>** to my nation, and offerings.

Commands: New Covenant

4367 προστασσω prostasso (pros-tas'-so)

from 4314 and 5021; TDNT-8:37,1156; v; to place at, give a command:—NAS-appointed (1), commanded (5), ordered (1).

AV-command 6, bid 1; 7

- 1) to assign or ascribe to, join to
- 2) to enjoin, order, prescribe, command 2a) to appoint, to define
- Matthew 1:24 And Joseph awoke from his sleep and did as the angel of the Lord **commanded** <4367 protasso> him, and took *Mary* as his wife,
- Matthew 8:4 And Jesus *said to him, "See that you tell no one; but go, show yourself to the priest and present the offering that Moses **commanded <4367 protasso>**, as a testimony to them."
- Mark 1:44 and He *said to him, "See that you say nothing to anyone; but go, show yourself to the priest and offer for your cleansing what Moses **commanded <4367 protasso>**, as a testimony to them."
- Luke 5:14 And He ordered him to tell no one, "But go and show yourself to the priest and make an offering for your cleansing, just as Moses **commanded <4367 protasso>**, as a testimony to them."
- Acts 10:33 "So I sent for you immediately, and you have been kind enough to come. Now then, we are all here present before God to hear all that you have been **commanded <4367**protasso> by the Lord."
- Acts 10:48 And he **ordered <4367 protasso>** them to be baptized in the name of Jesus Christ. Then they asked him to stay on for a few days.
- Acts 17:26 and He made from one *man* every nation of mankind to live on all the face of the earth, having determined *their* appointed <4367 protasso> times and the boundaries of their habitation.

1291 διαστελλομαι diastellomai (dee-as-tel'-lom-ahee)

middle voice from 1223 and 4724; TDNT-7:591, v; to set apart, fig. to distinguish, to charge expressly:—

NAS-command (1), gave...orders (3), gave...instruction (1), giving orders (1), ordered (1).

AV-charge 6, give commandment 1, be commanded 1; 8

- 1) to draw asunder, divide, distinguish, dispose, order
- 2) to open one's self i.e. one's mind, to set forth distinctly
- 3) to admonish, order, charge
- Mark 5:43 And He gave them strict orders <1291 diastellomai> that no one should know about this, and He said that *something* should be given her to eat.
- Mark 7:36 And He gave them orders <1291 diastellomai> not to tell anyone; but the more He ordered <1291 diastellomai> them, the more widely they continued to proclaim it.

- Mark 8:15 And He was **giving orders <1291 diastellomai>** to them, saying, "Watch out! Beware of the leaven of the Pharisees and the leaven of Herod."
- Mark 9:9 As they were coming down from the mountain, He **gave them orders <1291 diastellomai>** not to relate to anyone what they had seen, until the Son of Man rose from the dead.
- Acts 15:24 "Since we have heard that some of our number to whom we **gave no instruction** <1291 diastellomai> have disturbed you with *their* words, unsettling your souls,
- Hebrews 12:20 For they could not bear the **command <1291 diastellomai>**, "IF EVEN A BEAST TOUCHES THE MOUNTAIN, IT WILL BE STONED."

1299 διατασσω diatasso (dee-at-as'-so)

from 1223 and 5021; TDNT-8:34,1156; v; to arrange thoroughly, i.e. to charge, appoint:—NAS-arrange (1), arranged (1), commanded (3), direct (1), directed (4), gave orders (2), giving instructions (1), ordered (1), ordered (1), orders (1).

AV-command 7, appoint 4, ordain 3, set in order 1, give order 1; 16

- 1) to arrange, appoint, ordain, prescribe, give order
- Matthew 11:1 When Jesus had finished **giving instructions <1299 diatasso>** to His twelve disciples, He departed from there to teach and preach in their cities.
- Luke 3:13 And he said to them, "Collect no more than what you have been **ordered <1299 diatasso>** to."
- Luke 8:55 And her spirit returned, and she got up immediately; and He **gave orders <1299 diatasso>** for *something* to be given her to eat.
- Luke 17:9 "He does not thank the slave because he did the things which were **commanded** <1299 diatasso>, does he?
- Luke 17:10 "So you too, when you do all the things which are **commanded <1299 diatasso>** you, say, 'We are unworthy slaves; we have done *only* that which we ought to have done.'"
- Acts 7:44 "Our fathers had the tabernacle of testimony in the wilderness, just as He who spoke to Moses **directed <1299 diatasso>** *him* to make it according to the pattern which he had seen.
- Acts 18:2 And he found a Jew named Aquila, a native of Pontus, having recently come from Italy with his wife Priscilla, because Claudius had **commanded <1299 diatasso>** all the Jews to leave Rome. He came to them,
- Acts 20:13 But we, going ahead to the ship, set sail for Assos, intending from there to take Paul on board; for so he had **arranged <1299 diatasso>** it, intending himself to go by land.
- Acts 23:31 So the soldiers, in accordance with their **orders <1299 diatasso>**, took Paul and brought him by night to Antipatris.
- Acts 24:23 Then he **gave orders <1299 diatasso>** to the centurion for him to be kept in custody and *yet* have *some* freedom, and not to prevent any of his friends from ministering to him.
- 1 Corinthians 7:17 Only, as the Lord has assigned to each one, as God has called each, in this manner let him walk. And so I direct <1299 diatasso> in all the churches.
- 1 Corinthians 9:14 So also the Lord **directed <1299 diatasso>** those who proclaim the gospel to get their living from the gospel.
- 1 Corinthians 11:34 If anyone is hungry, let him eat at home, so that you will not come together for judgment. The remaining matters I will **arrange <1299 diatasso>** when I come.

- 1 Corinthians 16:1 Now concerning the collection for the saints, as I **directed <1299 diatasso>** the churches of Galatia, so do you also.
- Galatians 3:19 Why the Law then? It was added because of transgressions, having been **ordained <1299 diatasso>** through angels by the agency of a mediator, until the seed would come to whom the promise had been made.
- Titus 1:5 For this reason I left you in Crete, that you would set in order what remains and appoint elders in every city as I **directed <1299 diatasso>** you,

3852 παραγγελια paraggelia (par-ang-gel-ee'-ah)

from 3853; TDNT-5:761,776; n f; an instruction, a command:—

NAS-command (2), commandments (1), instruction (1), strict orders (1).

AV-commandment 2, charge 2, straitly 1; 5

- 1) announcement, a proclaiming or giving a message to
- 2) a charge, a command

3853 παραγελλω paraggello (par-ang-gel'-lo)

from <u>3844</u> and the base of <u>32</u>; TDNT-5:761,776; v; to transmit a message, to order:— NAS-charge (1), command (4), commanded (4), commanding (1), direct (1), directed (2), gave (1), give...order (1), give instructions (1), giving...instruction (1), instruct (2), instructed (3), instructing (3), ordered (3), Prescribe (2).

- AV-command 20, charge 6, give commandment 1, give charge 1, declare 1, give in charge 1, vr command 1; 31
- 1) to transmit a message along from one to another, to declare, announce
- 2) to command, order, charge

For Synonyms see entry 5844

- Matthew 10:5 These twelve Jesus sent out after **instructing <3853 paraggello>** them: "Do not go in *the* way of *the* Gentiles, and do not enter *any* city of the Samaritans;
- Matthew 15:35 And He directed <3853 paraggello> the people to sit down on the ground; Mark 6:8 and He instructed <3853 paraggello> them that they should take nothing for *their* journey, except a mere staff—no bread, no bag, no money in their belt—
- Mark 8:6 And He *directed <3853 paraggello> the people to sit down on the ground; and taking the seven loaves, He gave thanks and broke them, and started giving them to His disciples to serve to them, and they served them to the people.
- Luke 5:14 And He **ordered <3853 paraggello>** him to tell no one, "But go and show yourself to the priest and make an offering for your cleansing, just as Moses commanded, as a testimony to them."
- Luke 8:29 For He had **commanded <3853 paraggello>** the unclean spirit to come out of the man. For it had seized him many times; and he was bound with chains and shackles and kept under guard, and *yet* he would break his bonds and be driven by the demon into the desert.
- Luke 8:56 Her parents were amazed; but He **instructed <3853 paraggello>** them to tell no one what had happened.
- Luke 9:21 But He warned them and **instructed <3853 paraggello>** *them* not to tell this to anyone,

- Acts 1:4 Gathering them together, He **commanded <3853 paraggello>** them not to leave Jerusalem, but to wait for what the Father had promised, "Which," *He said,* "you heard of from Me:
- Acts 4:18 And when they had summoned them, they **commanded <3853 paraggello>** them not to speak or teach at all in the name of Jesus.
- Acts 5:28 saying, "We gave you strict orders <3852 paraggelia > not to continue teaching in this name, and yet, you have filled Jerusalem with your teaching and intend to bring this man's blood upon us."
- Acts 5:40 They took his advice; and after calling the apostles in, they flogged them and **ordered** <3853 paraggello> them not to speak in the name of Jesus, and *then* released them.
- Acts 10:42 "And He **ordered <3853 paraggello>** us to preach to the people, and solemnly to testify that this is the One who has been appointed by God as Judge of the living and the dead.
- Acts 15:5 But some of the sect of the Pharisees who had believed stood up, saying, "It is necessary to circumcise them and to **direct <3853 paraggello>** them to observe the Law of Moses."
- Acts 16:24 and he, having received such a **command <3852 paraggelia>**, threw them into the inner prison and fastened their feet in the stocks.
- Acts 16:18 She continued doing this for many days. But Paul was greatly annoyed, and turned and said to the spirit, "I **command <3853 paraggello>** you in the name of Jesus Christ to come out of her!" And it came out at that very moment.
- Acts 16:23 When they had struck them with many blows, they threw them into prison, **commanding <3853 paraggello>** the jailer to guard them securely;
- Acts 23:22 So the commander let the young man go, **instructing <3853 paraggello>** him, "Tell no one that you have notified me of these things."
- Acts 23:30 "When I was informed that there would be a plot against the man, I sent him to you at once, also **instructing <3853 paraggello>** his accusers to bring charges against him before you."
- 1 Corinthians 7:10 But to the married I give instructions <3853 paraggello>, not I, but the Lord, that the wife should not leave her husband
- 1 Corinthians 11:17 But in **giving this instruction <3853 paraggello>**, I do not praise you, because you come together not for the better but for the worse.
- 1 Thessalonians 4:2 For you know what **commandments <3852 paraggelia>** we gave you by *the authority of* the Lord Jesus.
- 1 Thessalonians 4:11 and to make it your ambition to lead a quiet life and attend to your own business and work with your hands, just as we **commanded <3853 paraggello>** you,
- 2 Thessalonians 3:4 We have confidence in the Lord concerning you, that you are doing and will *continue to* do what we **command <3853 paraggello>**.
- 2 Thessalonians 3:6 Now we **command <3853 paraggello>** you, brethren, in the name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that you keep away from every brother who leads an unruly life and not according to the tradition which you received from us.
- 2 Thessalonians 3:10 For even when we were with you, we used to give you this order <3853 paraggello>: if anyone is not willing to work, then he is not to eat, either.
- 2 Thessalonians 3:12 Now such persons we **command <3853 paraggello>** and exhort in the Lord Jesus Christ to work in quiet fashion and eat their own bread.

- 1 Timothy 1:3 As I urged you upon my departure for Macedonia, remain on at Ephesus so that you may **instruct** <3853 paraggello> certain men not to teach strange doctrines,
- 1 Timothy 1:5 But the goal of our **instruction <3852 paraggelia>** is love from a pure heart and a good conscience and a sincere faith.
- 1 Timothy 1:18 This **command <3852 paraggelia>** I entrust to you, Timothy, *my* son, in accordance with the prophecies previously made concerning you, that by them you fight the good fight,
- 1 Timothy 4:11 **Prescribe <3853 paraggello>** and teach these things.
- 1 Timothy 5:7 **Prescribe <3853 paraggello>** these things as well, so that they may be above reproach.
- 1 Timothy 6:13 I **charge <3853 paraggello>** you in the presence of God, who gives life to all things, and of Christ Jesus, who testified the good confession before Pontius Pilate,
- 1 Timothy 6:17 **Instruct <3853 paraggello>** those who are rich in this present world not to be conceited or to fix their hope on the uncertainty of riches, but on God, who richly supplies us with all things to enjoy.

1778 ενταλμα entalma (en'-tal-mah)

from <u>1781</u>; ; n n; *an injunction*, i.e. *religious precept:*—NAS-commandments (1), precepts (2). AV-commandment 3; 3
1) a precept

Matthew 15:9 'BUT IN VAIN DO THEY WORSHIP ME, TEACHING AS DOCTRINES THE **PRECEPTS <1778 entalma>** OF MEN.'"

Mark 7:7 'BUT IN VAIN DO THEY WORSHIP ME, TEACHING AS DOCTRINES THE **PRECEPTS** <1778 entalma> OF MEN.'

Colossians 2:22 (which all *refer to* things destined to perish with use)—in accordance with the **commandments <1778 entalma>** and teachings of men?

1781 εντελλομαι entellomai (en-tel'-lom-ahee)

from 1722 and the base of 5056 τελλομαι tellomai (to accomplish); TDNT-2:544,234; v; to enjoin, to charge, command:—

NAS-command (6), commanded (7), gave orders (1), given orders (1).

AV-command 10, give commandment 3, give charge 2, enjoin 1, charge 1; 17

1) to order, command to be done, enjoin

For Synonyms see entry 5844

Matthew 4:6 and *said to Him, "If You are the Son of God, throw Yourself down; for it is written, 'HE WILL **COMMAND <1781 entellomai>** HIS ANGELS CONCERNING YOU'; and 'ON *their* HANDS THEY WILL BEAR YOU UP, SO THAT YOU WILL NOT STRIKE YOUR FOOT AGAINST A STONE.'"

Matthew 17:9 As they were coming down from the mountain, Jesus **commanded <1781 entellomai>** them, saying, "Tell the vision to no one until the Son of Man has risen from the dead."

Matthew 19:7 They *said to Him, "Why then did Moses **command <1781 entellomai>** to GIVE HER A CERTIFICATE OF DIVORCE AND SEND *her* AWAY?"

- Matthew 28:20 teaching them to observe all that I **commanded <1781 entellomai>** you; and lo, I am with you always, even to the end of the age."
- Mark 10:3 And He answered and said to them, "What did Moses **command <1781 entellomai>** you?"
- Mark 13:34 "*It is* like a man away on a journey, *who* upon leaving his house and putting his slaves in charge, *assigning* to each one his task, also **commanded <1781 entellomai>** the doorkeeper to stay on the alert.
- Luke 4:10 for it is written, 'HE WILL **COMMAND <1781 entellomai>** HIS ANGELS CONCERNING YOU TO GUARD YOU,'
- John 8:5 "Now in the Law Moses **commanded <1781 entellomai>** us to stone such women; what then do You say?"
- John 14:31 but so that the world may know that I love the Father, I do exactly as the Father **commanded <1781 entellomai>** Me. Get up, let us go from here.
- John 15:14 "You are My friends if you do what I **command <1781 entellomai>** you.
- John 15:17 "This I **command <1781 entellomai>** you, that you love one another.
- Acts 1:2 until the day when He was taken up *to heaven*, after He had by the Holy Spirit **given orders** <1781 **entellomai**> to the apostles whom He had chosen.
- Acts 13:47 "For so the Lord has **commanded <1781 entellomai>** us, 'I HAVE PLACED YOU AS A LIGHT FOR THE GENTILES, THAT YOU MAY BRING SALVATION TO THE END OF THE EARTH.'"
- Hebrews 9:20 saying, "THIS IS THE BLOOD OF THE COVENANT WHICH GOD COMMANDED <1781 entellomai> YOU."
- Hebrews 11:22 By faith Joseph, when he was dying, made mention of the exodus of the sons of Israel, and gave orders <1781 entellomai > concerning his bones.

1785 εντολη entole (en-tol-ay')

from 1781; TDNT-2:545,234; n f; an injunction, order, command:—

NAS-command (2), commanded* (1), commandment (38), commandments (23), instructions (1), orders (1), requirement (1).

AV-commandment 69, precept 2; 71

- 1) an order, command, charge, precept, injunction
 - 1a) that which is prescribed to one by reason of his office
- 2) a commandment
 - 2a) a prescribed rule in accordance with which a thing is done
 - 2a1) a precept relating to lineage, of the Mosaic precept concerning the priesthood
 - 2a2) ethically used of the commandments in the Mosaic law or Jewish tradition

For Synonyms see entry 5918

- Matthew 5:19 "Whoever then annuls one of the least of these **commandments <1785 entole>**, and teaches others *to do* the same, shall be called least in the kingdom of heaven; but whoever keeps and teaches *them*, he shall be called great in the kingdom of heaven.
- Matthew 15:3 And He answered and said to them, "Why do you yourselves transgress the **commandment <1785 entole>** of God for the sake of your tradition?
- Matthew 19:17 And He said to him, "Why are you asking Me about what is good? There is *only* One who is good; but if you wish to enter into life, keep the **commandments** <1785 entole>."

- Matthew 22:36 "Teacher, which is the great **commandment <1785 entole>** in the Law?"
- Matthew 22:38 "This is the great and foremost **commandment <1785 entole>**.
- Matthew 22:40 "On these two **commandments <1785 entole>** depend the whole Law and the Prophets."
- Mark 7:8 "Neglecting the **commandment <1785 entole>** of God, you hold to the tradition of men."
- Mark 7:9 He was also saying to them, "You are experts at setting aside the **commandment** <1785 entole> of God in order to keep your tradition.
- Mark 10:5 But Jesus said to them, "Because of your hardness of heart he wrote you this **commandment <1785 entole>**.
- Mark 10:19 "You know the **commandments <1785 entole>**, 'DO NOT MURDER, DO NOT COMMIT ADULTERY, DO NOT STEAL, DO NOT BEAR FALSE WITNESS, Do not defraud, HONOR YOUR FATHER AND MOTHER.'"
- Mark 12:28 One of the scribes came and heard them arguing, and recognizing that He had answered them well, asked Him, "What **commandment <1785 entole>** is the foremost of all?"
- Mark 12:31 "The second is this, 'YOU SHALL LOVE YOUR NEIGHBOR AS YOURSELF.' There is no other **commandment <1785 entole>** greater than these."
- Luke 1:6 They were both righteous in the sight of God, walking blamelessly in all the **commandments <1785 entole>** and requirements of the Lord.
- Luke 15:29 "But he answered and said to his father, 'Look! For so many years I have been serving you and I have never neglected a **command <1785 entole>** of yours; and *yet* you have never given me a young goat, so that I might celebrate with my friends;
- Luke 18:20 "You know the **commandments <1785 entole>**, 'DO NOT COMMIT ADULTERY, DO NOT MURDER, DO NOT STEAL, DO NOT BEAR FALSE WITNESS, HONOR YOUR FATHER AND MOTHER.'"
- Luke 23:56 Then they returned and prepared spices and perfumes. And on the Sabbath they rested according to the **commandment <1785 entole>**.
- John 10:18 "No one has taken it away from Me, but I lay it down on My own initiative. I have authority to lay it down, and I have authority to take it up again. This **commandment <1785 entole>** I received from My Father."
- John 11:57 Now the chief priests and the Pharisees had given **orders <1785 entole>** that if anyone knew where He was, he was to report it, so that they might seize Him.
- John 12:49 "For I did not speak on My own initiative, but the Father Himself who sent Me has given Me a **commandment <1785 entole>** *as to* what to say and what to speak.
- John 12:50 "I know that His **commandment <1785 entole>** is eternal life; therefore the things I speak, I speak just as the Father has told Me."
- John 13:34 "A new **commandment <1785 entole>** I give to you, that you love one another, even as I have loved you, that you also love one another.
- John 14:15 "If you love Me, you will keep My commandments <1785 entole>.
- John 14:21 "He who has My **commandments <1785 entole>** and keeps them is the one who loves Me; and he who loves Me will be loved by My Father, and I will love him and will disclose Myself to him."
- John 15:10 "If you keep My **commandments <1785 entole>**, you will abide in My love; just as I have kept My Father's **commandments <1785 entole>** and abide in His love.

- John 15:12 "This is My **commandment <1785 entole>**, that you love one another, just as I have loved you.
- Acts 17:15 Now those who escorted Paul brought him as far as Athens; and receiving a **command <1785 entole>** for Silas and Timothy to come to him as soon as possible, they left.
- Romans 7:8 But sin, taking opportunity through the **commandment <1785 entole>**, produced in me coveting of every kind; for apart from the Law sin *is* dead.
- Romans 7:9 I was once alive apart from the Law; but when the **commandment <1785 entole>** came, sin became alive and I died;
- Romans 7:10 and this **commandment <1785 entole>**, which was to result in life, proved to result in death for me:
- Romans 7:11 for sin, taking an opportunity through the **commandment <1785 entole>**, deceived me and through it killed me.
- Romans 7:12 So then, the Law is holy, and the **commandment <1785 entole>** is holy and righteous and good.
- Romans 7:13 Therefore did that which is good become *a cause of* death for me? May it never be! Rather it was sin, in order that it might be shown to be sin by effecting my death through that which is good, so that through the **commandment <1785 entole>** sin would become utterly sinful.
- Romans 13:9 For this, "YOU SHALL NOT COMMIT ADULTERY, YOU SHALL NOT MURDER, YOU SHALL NOT STEAL, YOU SHALL NOT COVET," and if there is any other **commandment <1785 entole>**, it is summed up in this saying, "YOU SHALL LOVE YOUR NEIGHBOR AS YOURSELF."
- 1 Corinthians 7:19 Circumcision is nothing, and uncircumcision is nothing, but *what matters is* the keeping of the **commandments** <1785 entole> of God.
- 1 Corinthians 14:37 If anyone thinks he is a prophet or spiritual, let him recognize that the things which I write to you are the Lord's **commandment <1785 entole>**.
- Ephesians 2:15 by abolishing in His flesh the enmity, *which is* the Law of **commandments** <1785 entole> *contained* in ordinances, so that in Himself He might make the two into one new man, *thus* establishing peace,
- Ephesians 6:2 HONOR YOUR FATHER AND MOTHER (which is the first **commandment** <1785 entole> with a promise),
- Colossians 4:10 Aristarchus, my fellow prisoner, sends you his greetings; and *also* Barnabas's cousin Mark (about whom you received **instructions <1785 entole>**; if he comes to you, welcome him);
- 1 Timothy 6:14 that you keep the **commandment <1785 entole>** without stain or reproach until the appearing of our Lord Jesus Christ,
- Titus 1:14 not paying attention to Jewish myths and **commandments <1785 entole>** of men who turn away from the truth.
- Hebrews 7:5 And those indeed of the sons of Levi who receive the priest's office have **commandment <1785 entole>** in the Law to collect a tenth from the people, that is, from their brethren, although these are descended from Abraham.
- Hebrews 7:16 who has become *such* not on the basis of a law of physical **requirement <1785 entole>**, but according to the power of an indestructible life.
- Hebrews 7:18 For, on the one hand, there is a setting aside of a former **commandment <1785 entole>** because of its weakness and uselessness

- Hebrews 9:19 For when every **commandment <1785 entole>** had been spoken by Moses to all the people according to the Law, he took the blood of the calves and the goats, with water and scarlet wool and hyssop, and sprinkled both the book itself and all the people,
- 2 Peter 2:21 For it would be better for them not to have known the way of righteousness, than having known it, to turn away from the holy **commandment <1785 entole>** handed on to them.
- 2 Peter 3:2 that you should remember the words spoken beforehand by the holy prophets and the **commandment <1785 entole>** of the Lord and Savior *spoken* by your apostles.
- 1 John 2:3 By this we know that we have come to know Him, if we keep His **commandments** <1785 entole>.
- 1 John 2:4 The one who says, "I have come to know Him," and does not keep His **commandments <1785 entole>**, is a liar, and the truth is not in him;
- 1 John 2:7 Beloved, I am not writing a new **commandment <1785 entole>** to you, but an old **commandment <1785 entole>** which you have had from the beginning; the old **commandment <1785 entole>** is the word which you have heard.
- 1 John 2:8 On the other hand, I am writing a new **commandment <1785 entole>** to you, which is true in Him and in you, because the darkness is passing away and the true Light is already shining.
- 1 John 3:22 and whatever we ask we receive from Him, because we keep His **commandments** <1785 entole> and do the things that are pleasing in His sight.
- 1 John 3:23 This is His **commandment <1785 entole>**, that we believe in the name of His Son Jesus Christ, and love one another, just as He **commanded <1785 entole>** us.
- 1 John 3:24 The one who keeps His **commandments <1785 entole>** abides in Him, and He in him. We know by this that He abides in us, by the Spirit whom He has given us.
- 1 John 4:21 And this **commandment <1785 entole>** we have from Him, that the one who loves God should love his brother also.
- 1 John 5:2 By this we know that we love the children of God, when we love God and observe His **commandments** <1785 entole>.
- 1 John 5:3 For this is the love of God, that we keep His **commandments <1785 entole>**; and His **commandments <1785 entole>** are not burdensome.
- 2 John 1:4 I was very glad to find *some* of your children walking in truth, just as we have received **commandment <1785 entole>** to do from the Father.
- 2 John 1:5 Now I ask you, lady, not as though *I were* writing to you a new **commandment** <1785 entole>, but the one which we have had from the beginning, that we love one another.
- 2 John 1:6 And this is love, that we walk according to His **commandments <1785 entole>**. This is the **commandment <1785 entole>**, just as you have heard from the beginning, that you should walk in it.
- Revelation 12:17 So the dragon was enraged with the woman, and went off to make war with the rest of her children, who keep the **commandments <1785 entole>** of God and hold to the testimony of Jesus.
- Revelation 14:12 Here is the perseverance of the saints who keep the **commandments <1785 entole>** of God and their faith in Jesus.

2003 επιταγη epitage (ep-ee-tag-ay')

from 2004; TDNT-8:36,1156; n f; *a command:*—NAS-authority (1), command (3), commandment (3). AV-commandment 6, authority 1; 7 1) an injunction, mandate, command

Romans 16:26 but now is manifested, and by the Scriptures of the prophets, according to the **commandment <2003 epitage>** of the eternal God, has been made known to all the nations, *leading* to obedience of faith;

- 1 Corinthians 7:6 But this I say by way of concession, not of **command <2003 epitage>**.
- 1 Corinthians 7:25 Now concerning virgins I have no **command <2003 epitage>** of the Lord, but I give an opinion as one who by the mercy of the Lord is trustworthy.
- 2 Corinthians 8:8 I am not speaking *this* as a **command <2003 epitage>**, but as proving through the earnestness of others the sincerity of your love also.
- 1 Timothy 1:1 Paul, an apostle of Christ Jesus according to the **commandment <2003 epitage>** of God our Savior, and of Christ Jesus, *who is* our hope,
- Titus 1:3 but at the proper time manifested, *even* His word, in the proclamation with which I was entrusted according to the **commandment <2003 epitage>** of God our Savior,
- Titus 2:15 These things speak and exhort and reprove with all **authority <2003 epitage>**. Let no one disregard you.

2004 επιτασσω epitasso (ep-ee-tas'-so)

from 1909 and 5021; v; to arrange upon, i.e. to command:—NAS-command (2), commanded (4), commands (3), order (1). AV-command 8, charge 1, enjoin 1; 10
1) to enjoin upon, order, command, charge

- Mark 1:27 They were all amazed, so that they debated among themselves, saying, "What is this? A new teaching with authority! He **commands <2004 epitasso>** even the unclean spirits, and they obey Him."
- Mark 6:27 Immediately the king sent an executioner and **commanded <2004 epitasso>** *him* to bring *back* his head. And he went and had him beheaded in the prison,
- Mark 6:39 And He **commanded <2004 epitasso>** them all to sit down by groups on the green grass.
- Mark 9:25 When Jesus saw that a crowd was rapidly gathering, He rebuked the unclean spirit, saying to it, "You deaf and mute spirit, I **command <2004 epitasso>** you, come out of him and do not enter him again."
- Luke 4:36 And amazement came upon them all, and they *began* talking with one another saying, "What is this message? For with authority and power He **commands <2004 epitasso>** the unclean spirits and they come out."
- Luke 8:25 And He said to them, "Where is your faith?" They were fearful and amazed, saying to one another, "Who then is this, that He **commands** <2004 epitasso> even the winds and the water, and they obey Him?"
- Luke 8:31 They were imploring Him not to **command <2004 epitasso>** them to go away into the abyss.

- Luke 14:22 "And the slave said, 'Master, what you **commanded <2004 epitasso>** has been done, and still there is room.'
- Acts 23:2 The high priest Ananias **commanded <2004 epitasso>** those standing beside him to strike him on the mouth.
- Philemon 1:8 Therefore, though I have enough confidence in Christ to **order <2004 epitasso>** you *to do* what is proper,

2753 κελευω keleuo (kel-yoo'-o)

from a primary kello and κελομαι kelomai (to urge on); v; to command:—

NAS-command (2), commanded (4), gave orders (2), give orders (1), giving orders (1), order (2), ordered (12), ordering (2).

AV-command 24, at (one's) command 1, give commandment 1, bid 1; 27

1) to command, to order

For Synonyms see entry <u>5844</u>

- Matthew 8:18 Now when Jesus saw a crowd around Him, He gave orders <2753 keleuo> to depart to the other side *of the sea*.
- Matthew 14:9 Although he was grieved, the king **commanded <2753 keleuo>** *it* to be given because of his oaths, and because of his dinner guests.
- Matthew 14:19 **Ordering <2753 keleuo>** the people to sit down on the grass, He took the five loaves and the two fish, and looking up toward heaven, He blessed *the food*, and breaking the loaves He gave them to the disciples, and the disciples *gave them* to the crowds,
- Matthew 14:28 Peter said to Him, "Lord, if it is You, **command <2753 keleuo>** me to come to You on the water."
- Matthew 18:25 "But since he did not have *the means* to repay, his lord **commanded <2753 keleuo>** him to be sold, along with his wife and children and all that he had, and repayment to be made.
- Matthew 27:58 This man went to Pilate and asked for the body of Jesus. Then Pilate **ordered** <2753 keleuo> it to be given *to him*.
- Matthew 27:64 "Therefore, give orders <2753 keleuo> for the grave to be made secure until the third day, otherwise His disciples may come and steal Him away and say to the people, 'He has risen from the dead,' and the last deception will be worse than the first."
- Luke 18:40 And Jesus stopped and **commanded <2753 keleuo>** that he be brought to Him; and when he came near, He questioned him,
- Acts 4:15 But when they had **ordered <2753 keleuo>** them to leave the Council, they *began* to confer with one another,
- Acts 5:34 But a Pharisee named Gamaliel, a teacher of the Law, respected by all the people, stood up in the Council and **gave orders <2753 keleuo>** to put the men outside for a short time.
- Acts 8:38 And he **ordered <2753 keleuo>** the chariot to stop; and they both went down into the water, Philip as well as the eunuch, and he baptized him.
- Acts 12:19 When Herod had searched for him and had not found him, he examined the guards and **ordered <2753 keleuo>** that they be led away *to execution*. Then he went down from Judea to Caesarea and was spending time there.
- Acts 16:22 The crowd rose up together against them, and the chief magistrates tore their robes off them and proceeded to order <2753 keleuo> them to be beaten with rods.

- Acts 21:33 Then the commander came up and took hold of him, and **ordered <2753 keleuo>** him to be bound with two chains; and he *began* asking who he was and what he had done.
- Acts 21:34 But among the crowd some were shouting one thing *and* some another, and when he could not find out the facts because of the uproar, he **ordered <2753 keleuo>** him to be brought into the barracks.
- Acts 22:24 the commander **ordered <2753 keleuo>** him to be brought into the barracks, stating that he should be examined by scourging so that he might find out the reason why they were shouting against him that way.
- Acts 22:30 But on the next day, wishing to know for certain why he had been accused by the Jews, he released him and **ordered <2753 keleuo>** the chief priests and all the Council to assemble, and brought Paul down and set him before them.
- Acts 23:3 Then Paul said to him, "God is going to strike you, you whitewashed wall! Do you sit to try me according to the Law, and in violation of the Law **order <2753 keleuo>** me to be struck?"
- Acts 23:10 And as a great dissension was developing, the commander was afraid Paul would be torn to pieces by them and **ordered <2753 keleuo>** the troops to go down and take him away from them by force, and bring him into the barracks.
- Acts 23:35 he said, "I will give you a hearing after your accusers arrive also," giving orders <2753 keleuo> for him to be kept in Herod's Praetorium.
- Acts 24:8 **ordering <2753 keleuo>** his accusers to come before you.]] By examining him yourself concerning all these matters you will be able to ascertain the things of which we accuse him."
- Acts 25:6 After he had spent not more than eight or ten days among them, he went down to Caesarea, and on the next day he took his seat on the tribunal and **ordered <2753 keleuo>** Paul to be brought.
- Acts 25:17 "So after they had assembled here, I did not delay, but on the next day took my seat on the tribunal and **ordered <2753 keleuo>** the man to be brought before me.
- Acts 25:21 "But when Paul appealed to be held in custody for the Emperor's decision, I **ordered** <2753 keleuo> him to be kept in custody until I send him to Caesar."
- Acts 25:23 So, on the next day when Agrippa came together with Bernice amid great pomp, and entered the auditorium accompanied by the commanders and the prominent men of the city, at the **command <2753 keleuo>** of Festus, Paul was brought in.
- Acts 27:43 but the centurion, wanting to bring Paul safely through, kept them from their intention, and **commanded <2753 keleuo>** that those who could swim should jump overboard first and get to land,

3004 λεγω lego (leg'-o)

a root word; TDNT-4:69,505; v; to say:—

NAS-addressing (1), agree* (1), ask (1), asked (3), asking (4), bring charges (1), call (8), called (34), calling (1), calls (3), claimed (1), claiming (2), command (3), designated (1), follows (1), give (1), gives (1), greeted* (1), made (1), mean (2), means (3), meant (1), mention (1), named (3), ordered (2), quote (1), referred (1), remarking (1), said (1083), said said (1), say (364), saying (440), says (102), shouting (1), so-called (3), speak (22), speaking (17), speaks (6), spoke (18), spoken (26), stated (1), stating (2), talking (5), tell (71), telling (18), thing spoken (1), thought (1), told (35), using (1).

AV-say 1184, speak 61, call 48, tell 33, misc 17; 1343

- 1) to say, to speak
 - 1a) affirm over, maintain (b) to teach (c) to exhort, advise, to command, direct
 - 1d) to point out with words, intend, mean, mean to say
 - 1e) to call by name, to call, name (f) to speak out, speak of, mention

Scriptures: 1,978 verses, partial listing; Command type (Thus says the LORD) verses that illustrate Jesus fulfilling written Torah of the Old Covenant and magnifying Spiritual Torah (I say...) of the New Covenant.

- Matthew 1:16 Jacob was the father of Joseph the husband of Mary, by whom Jesus was born, who is **called <3004 lego>** the Messiah.
- Matthew 1:20 But when he had considered this, behold, an angel of the Lord appeared to him in a dream, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Joseph, son of David, do not be afraid to take Mary as your wife; for the Child who has been conceived in her is of the Holy Spirit.
- Matthew 1:22 Now all this took place to fulfill what was **spoken <3004 lego>** by the Lord through the prophet:
- Matthew 2:13 Now when they had gone, behold, an angel of the Lord *appeared to Joseph in a dream and said <3004 lego>, "Get up! Take the Child and His mother and flee to Egypt, and remain there until I tell <3004 lego> you; for Herod is going to search for the Child to destroy Him."
- Matthew 2:15 He remained there until the death of Herod. *This was* to fulfill what had been **spoken <3004 lego>** by the Lord through the prophet: "OUT OF EGYPT I CALLED MY SON."
- Matthew 2:17 Then what had been **spoken <3004 lego>** through Jeremiah the prophet was fulfilled:
- Matthew 2:19 But when Herod died, behold, an angel of the Lord *appeared in a dream to Joseph in Egypt, and said <3004 lego>,
- Matthew 2:23 and came and lived in a city **called <3004 lego>** Nazareth. *This was* to fulfill what was **spoken <3004 lego>** through the prophets: "He shall be called a Nazarene."
- Matthew 3:3 For this is the one **referred <3004 lego>** to by Isaiah the prophet when he **said <3004 lego>**, "THE VOICE OF ONE CRYING IN THE WILDERNESS, 'MAKE READY THE WAY OF THE LORD, MAKE HIS PATHS STRAIGHT!'"
- Matthew 3:9 and do not suppose that you can say <3004 lego> to yourselves, 'We have Abraham for our father'; for I say <3004 lego> to you that from these stones God is able to raise up children to Abraham.
- Matthew 3:15 But Jesus answering **said <3004 lego>** to him, "Permit *it* at this time; for in this way it is fitting for us to fulfill all righteousness." Then he *permitted Him.
- Matthew 3:17 and behold, a voice out of the heavens said <3004 lego>, "This is My beloved Son, in whom I am well-pleased."
- Matthew 4:3 And the tempter came and **said <3004 lego>** to Him, "If You are the Son of God, **command <3004 lego>** that these stones become bread."
- Matthew 4:4 But He answered and said <3004 lego>, "It is written, 'MAN SHALL NOT LIVE ON BREAD ALONE, BUT ON EVERY WORD THAT PROCEEDS OUT OF THE MOUTH OF GOD.'"
- Matthew 4:10 Then Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "Go, Satan! For it is written, 'YOU SHALL WORSHIP THE LORD YOUR GOD, AND SERVE HIM ONLY.'"

- Matthew 4:14 *This was* to fulfill what was **spoken <3004 lego>** through Isaiah the prophet:
- Matthew 4:17 From that time Jesus began to preach and say <3004 lego>, "Repent, for the kingdom of heaven is at hand."
- Matthew 4:19 And He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Follow Me, and I will make you fishers of men."
- Matthew 5:2 He opened His mouth and began to teach them, saying <3004 lego>,
- Matthew 5:18 "For truly I say <3004 lego> to you, until heaven and earth pass away, not the smallest letter or stroke shall pass from the Law until all is accomplished.
- Matthew 5:20 "For I say <3004 lego> to you that unless your righteousness surpasses *that* of the scribes and Pharisees, you will not enter the kingdom of heaven.
- Matthew 5:21 "You have heard that the ancients were **told <3004 lego>**, 'YOU SHALL NOT COMMIT MURDER' and 'Whoever commits murder shall be liable to the court.'
- Matthew 5:22 "But I say <3004 lego> to you that everyone who is angry with his brother shall be guilty before the court; and whoever says <3004 lego> to his brother, 'You good-fornothing,' shall be guilty before the supreme court; and whoever says <3004 lego>, 'You fool,' shall be guilty *enough to go* into the fiery hell.
- Matthew 5:26 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, you will not come out of there until you have paid up the last cent.
- Matthew 5:27 "You have heard that it was said <3004 lego>, 'YOU SHALL NOT COMMIT ADULTERY';
- Matthew 5:28 but I say <3004 lego> to you that everyone who looks at a woman with lust for her has already committed adultery with her in his heart.
- Matthew 5:31 "It was said <3004 lego>, 'WHOEVER SENDS HIS WIFE AWAY, LET HIM GIVE HER A CERTIFICATE OF DIVORCE';
- Matthew 5:32 but I say <3004 lego> to you that everyone who divorces his wife, except for *the* reason of unchastity, makes her commit adultery; and whoever marries a divorced woman commits adultery.
- Matthew 5:33 "Again, you have heard that the ancients were **told <3004 lego>**, 'YOU SHALL NOT MAKE FALSE VOWS, BUT SHALL FULFILL YOUR VOWS TO THE LORD.'
- Matthew 5:34 "But I say <3004 lego> to you, make no oath at all, either by heaven, for it is the throne of God,
- Matthew 5:38 "You have heard that it was said <3004 lego>, 'AN EYE FOR AN EYE, AND A TOOTH FOR A TOOTH.'
- Matthew 5:39 "But I say <3004 lego> to you, do not resist an evil person; but whoever slaps you on your right cheek, turn the other to him also.
- Matthew 5:43 "You have heard that it was said <3004 lego>, 'YOU SHALL LOVE YOUR NEIGHBOR and hate your enemy.'
- Matthew 5:44 "But I say <3004 lego> to you, love your enemies and pray for those who persecute you,
- Matthew 6:2 "So when you give to the poor, do not sound a trumpet before you, as the hypocrites do in the synagogues and in the streets, so that they may be honored by men. Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, they have their reward in full.
- Matthew 6:5 "When you pray, you are not to be like the hypocrites; for they love to stand and pray in the synagogues and on the street corners so that they may be seen by men. Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, they have their reward in full.

- Matthew 6:16 "Whenever you fast, do not put on a gloomy face as the hypocrites *do*, for they neglect their appearance so that they will be noticed by men when they are fasting. Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, they have their reward in full.
- Matthew 6:25 "For this reason I say <3004 lego> to you, do not be worried about your life, as to what you will eat or what you will drink; nor for your body, as to what you will put on. Is not life more than food, and the body more than clothing?
- Matthew 6:29 yet I say <3004 lego> to you that not even Solomon in all his glory clothed himself like one of these.
- Matthew 6:31 "Do not worry then, **saying <3004 lego>**, 'What will we eat?' or 'What will we drink?' or 'What will we wear for clothing?'
- Matthew 7:4 "Or how can you say <3004 lego> to your brother, 'Let me take the speck out of your eye,' and behold, the log is in your own eye?
- Matthew 7:21 "Not everyone who **says** <**3004 lego>** to Me, 'Lord, Lord,' will enter the kingdom of heaven, but he who does the will of My Father who is in heaven *will enter*.
- Matthew 7:22 "Many will say <3004 lego> to Me on that day, 'Lord, Lord, did we not prophesy in Your name, and in Your name cast out demons, and in Your name perform many miracles?'
- Matthew 8:3 Jesus stretched out His hand and touched him, **saying <3004 lego>**, "I am willing; be cleansed." And immediately his leprosy was cleansed.
- Matthew 8:7 Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "I will come and heal him."
- Matthew 8:10 Now when Jesus heard *this*, He marveled and **said <3004 lego>** to those who were following, "Truly I **say <3004 lego>** to you, I have not found such great faith with anyone in Israel.
- Matthew 8:11 "I say <3004 lego> to you that many will come from east and west, and recline *at the table* with Abraham, Isaac and Jacob in the kingdom of heaven;
- Matthew 8:13 And Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to the centurion, "Go; it shall be done for you as you have believed." And the servant was healed that *very* moment.
- Matthew 8:17 *This was* to fulfill what was **spoken <3004 lego>** through Isaiah the prophet: "HE HIMSELF TOOK OUR INFIRMITIES AND CARRIED AWAY OUR DISEASES."
- Matthew 8:20 Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "The foxes have holes and the birds of the air have nests, but the Son of Man has nowhere to lay His head."
- Matthew 8:22 But Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "Follow Me, and allow the dead to bury their own dead."
- Matthew 8:26 He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Why are you afraid, you men of little faith?" Then He got up and rebuked the winds and the sea, and it became perfectly calm.
- Matthew 8:32 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "Go!" And they came out and went into the swine, and the whole herd rushed down the steep bank into the sea and perished in the waters.
- Matthew 9:2 And they brought to Him a paralytic lying on a bed. Seeing their faith, Jesus said <3004 lego> to the paralytic, "Take courage, son; your sins are forgiven."
- Matthew 9:3 And some of the scribes **said <3004 lego>** to themselves, "This *fellow* blasphemes."
- Matthew 9:4 And Jesus knowing their thoughts **said <3004 lego>**, "Why are you thinking evil in your hearts?
- Matthew 9:5 "Which is easier, to say <3004 lego>, 'Your sins are forgiven,' or to say <3004 lego>, 'Get up, and walk'?

- Matthew 9:6 "But so that you may know that the Son of Man has authority on earth to forgive sins"—then He *said <3004 lego> to the paralytic, "Get up, pick up your bed and go home."
- Matthew 9:9 As Jesus went on from there, He saw a man called <3004 lego> Matthew, sitting in the tax collector's booth; and He *said <3004 lego> to him, "Follow Me!" And he got up and followed Him.
- Matthew 9:12 But when Jesus heard *this*, He said <3004 lego>, "*It is* not those who are healthy who need a physician, but those who are sick.
- Matthew 9:15 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "The attendants of the bridegroom cannot mourn as long as the bridegroom is with them, can they? But the days will come when the bridegroom is taken away from them, and then they will fast.
- Matthew 9:22 But Jesus turning and seeing her **said <3004 lego>**, "Daughter, take courage; your faith has made you well." At once the woman was made well.
- Matthew 9:24 He said <3004 lego>, "Leave; for the girl has not died, but is asleep." And they *began* laughing at Him.
- Matthew 9:28 When He entered the house, the blind men came up to Him, and Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "Do you believe that I am able to do this?" They *said <3004 lego> to Him, "Yes, Lord."
- Matthew 9:29 Then He touched their eyes, **saying <3004 lego>**, "It shall be done to you according to your faith."
- Matthew 9:33 After the demon was cast out, the mute man spoke; and the crowds were amazed, and were saying <3004 lego>, "Nothing like this has ever been seen in Israel."
- Matthew 9:34 But the Pharisees were **saying <3004 lego>**, "He casts out the demons by the ruler of the demons."
- Matthew 9:37 Then He *said <3004 lego> to His disciples, "The harvest is plentiful, but the workers are few.
- Matthew 10:7 "And as you go, preach, **saying <3004 lego>**, 'The kingdom of heaven is at hand.'
- Matthew 10:15 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, it will be more tolerable for *the* land of Sodom and Gomorrah in the day of judgment than for that city.
- Matthew 10:23 "But whenever they persecute you in one city, flee to the next; for truly I say <3004 lego> to you, you will not finish *going through* the cities of Israel until the Son of Man comes.
- Matthew 10:27 "What I **tell <3004 lego>** you in the darkness, **speak <3004 lego>** in the light; and what you hear *whispered* in *your* ear, proclaim upon the housetops.
- Matthew 10:42 "And whoever in the name of a disciple gives to one of these little ones even a cup of cold water to drink, truly I say <3004 lego> to you, he shall not lose his reward."
- Matthew 11:3 and said <3004 lego> to Him, "Are You the Expected One, or shall we look for someone else?"
- Matthew 11:4 Jesus answered and said <3004 lego> to them, "Go and report to John what you hear and see:
- Matthew 11:7 As these men were going *away*, Jesus began to **speak <3004 lego>** to the crowds about John, "What did you go out into the wilderness to see? A reed shaken by the wind?
- Matthew 11:9 "But what did you go out to see? A prophet? Yes, I tell <3004 lego> you, and one who is more than a prophet.

- Matthew 11:11 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, among those born of women there has not arisen *anyone* greater than John the Baptist! Yet the one who is least in the kingdom of heaven is greater than he.
- Matthew 11:17 and say <3004 lego>, 'We played the flute for you, and you did not dance; we sang a dirge, and you did not mourn.'
- Matthew 11:18 "For John came neither eating nor drinking, and they say <3004 lego>, 'He has a demon!'
- Matthew 11:19 "The Son of Man came eating and drinking, and they say <3004 lego>, 'Behold, a gluttonous man and a drunkard, a friend of tax collectors and sinners!' Yet wisdom is vindicated by her deeds."
- Matthew 11:22 "Nevertheless I say <3004 lego> to you, it will be more tolerable for Tyre and Sidon in *the* day of judgment than for you.
- Matthew 11:24 "Nevertheless I say <3004 lego> to you that it will be more tolerable for the land of Sodom in *the* day of judgment, than for you."
- Matthew 11:25 At that time Jesus said <3004 lego>, "I praise You, Father, Lord of heaven and earth, that You have hidden these things from *the* wise and intelligent and have revealed them to infants.
- Matthew 12:2 But when the Pharisees saw *this*, they **said <3004 lego>** to Him, "Look, Your disciples do what is not lawful to do on a Sabbath."
- Matthew 12:3 But He said <3004 lego> to them, "Have you not read what David did when he became hungry, he and his companions,
- Matthew 12:6 "But I say <3004 lego> to you that something greater than the temple is here.
- Matthew 12:11 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "What man is there among you who has a sheep, and if it falls into a pit on the Sabbath, will he not take hold of it and lift it out?
- Matthew 12:13 Then He *said <3004 lego> to the man, "Stretch out your hand!" He stretched it out, and it was restored to normal, like the other.
- Matthew 12:17 *This was* to fulfill what was **spoken <3004 lego>** through Isaiah the prophet:
- Matthew 12:23 All the crowds were amazed, and were **saying <3004 lego>**, "This man cannot be the Son of David, can he?"
- Matthew 12:24 But when the Pharisees heard *this*, they **said** <**3004 lego**>, "This man casts out demons only by Beelzebul the ruler of the demons."
- Matthew 12:25 And knowing their thoughts Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "Any kingdom divided against itself is laid waste; and any city or house divided against itself will not stand.
- Matthew 12:31 "Therefore I say <3004 lego> to you, any sin and blasphemy shall be forgiven people, but blasphemy against the Spirit shall not be forgiven.
- Matthew 12:32 "Whoever speaks <3004 lego> a word against the Son of Man, it shall be forgiven him; but whoever speaks <3004 lego> against the Holy Spirit, it shall not be forgiven him, either in this age or in the *age* to come.
- Matthew 12:36 "But I tell <3004 lego> you that every careless word that people speak, they shall give an accounting for it in the day of judgment.
- Matthew 12:38 Then some of the scribes and Pharisees said <3004 lego> to Him, "Teacher, we want to see a sign from You."
- Matthew 12:39 But He answered and said <3004 lego> to them, "An evil and adulterous generation craves for a sign; and *yet* no sign will be given to it but the sign of Jonah the prophet;

- Matthew 12:48 But Jesus answered the one who was **telling <3004 lego>** Him and **said <3004 lego>**, "Who is My mother and who are My brothers?"
- Matthew 12:49 And stretching out His hand toward His disciples, He said <3004 lego>, "Behold My mother and My brothers!
- Matthew 13:3 And He spoke many things to them in parables, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Behold, the sower went out to sow;
- Matthew 13:14 "In their case the prophecy of Isaiah is being fulfilled, which says <3004 lego>, 'YOU WILL KEEP ON HEARING, BUT WILL NOT UNDERSTAND; YOU WILL KEEP ON SEEING, BUT WILL NOT PERCEIVE;
- Matthew 13:17 "For truly I say <3004 lego> to you that many prophets and righteous men desired to see what you see, and did not see *it*, and to hear what you hear, and did not hear *it*.
- Matthew 13:24 Jesus presented another parable to them, **saying <3004 lego>**, "The kingdom of heaven may be compared to a man who sowed good seed in his field.
- Matthew 13:27 "The slaves of the landowner came and said <3004 lego> to him, 'Sir, did you not sow good seed in your field? How then does it have tares?'
- Matthew 13:28 "And he said to them, 'An enemy has done this!' The slaves *said <3004 lego> to him, 'Do you want us, then, to go and gather them up?'
- Matthew 13:30 'Allow both to grow together until the harvest; and in the time of the harvest I will say <3004 lego> to the reapers, "First gather up the tares and bind them in bundles to burn them up; but gather the wheat into my barn."'"
- Matthew 13:31 He presented another parable to them, **saying <3004 lego>**, "The kingdom of heaven is like a mustard seed, which a man took and sowed in his field;
- Matthew 13:35 *This was* to fulfill what was **spoken <3004 lego>** through the prophet: "I WILL OPEN MY MOUTH IN PARABLES; I WILL UTTER THINGS HIDDEN SINCE THE FOUNDATION OF THE WORLD."
- Matthew 13:37 And He said <3004 lego>, "The one who sows the good seed is the Son of Man, Matthew 13:52 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "Therefore every scribe who has become a disciple of the kingdom of heaven is like a head of a household, who brings out of his treasure things new and old."
- Matthew 13:57 And they took offense at Him. But Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "A prophet is not without honor except in his hometown and in his *own* household."
- Matthew 14:16 But Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to them, "They do not need to go away; you give them *something* to eat!"
- Matthew 14:18 And He said <3004 lego>, "Bring them here to Me."
- Matthew 14:27 But immediately Jesus spoke to them, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Take courage, it is I; do not be afraid."
- Matthew 14:29 And He said <3004 lego>, "Come!" And Peter got out of the boat, and walked on the water and came toward Jesus.
- Matthew 14:31 Immediately Jesus stretched out His hand and took hold of him, and *said <3004 lego> to him, "You of little faith, why did you doubt?"
- Matthew 14:33 And those who were in the boat worshiped Him, **saying <3004 lego>**, "You are certainly God's Son!"
- Matthew 15:3 And He answered and said <3004 lego> to them, "Why do you yourselves transgress the commandment of God for the sake of your tradition?
- Matthew 15:4 "For God said <3004 lego>, 'HONOR YOUR FATHER AND MOTHER,' and, 'HE WHO SPEAKS EVIL OF FATHER OR MOTHER IS TO BE PUT TO DEATH.'

- Matthew 15:10 After Jesus called the crowd to Him, He said <3004 lego> to them, "Hear and understand
- Matthew 15:13 But He answered and said <3004 lego>, "Every plant which My heavenly Father did not plant shall be uprooted.
- Matthew 15:16 Jesus said <3004 lego>, "Are you still lacking in understanding also?
- Matthew 15:24 But He answered and **said <3004 lego>**, "I was sent only to the lost sheep of the house of Israel."
- Matthew 15:26 And He answered and said <3004 lego>, "It is not good to take the children's bread and throw it to the dogs."
- Matthew 15:28 Then Jesus said <3004 lego> to her, "O woman, your faith is great; it shall be done for you as you wish." And her daughter was healed at once.
- Matthew 15:32 And Jesus called His disciples to Him, and said <3004 lego>, "I feel compassion for the people, because they have remained with Me now three days and have nothing to eat; and I do not want to send them away hungry, for they might faint on the way."
- Matthew 15:34 And Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "How many loaves do you have?" And they said <3004 lego>, "Seven, and a few small fish."
- Matthew 16:6 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "Watch out and beware of the leaven of the Pharisees and Sadducees."
- Matthew 16:11 "How is it that you do not understand that I did not **speak <3004 lego>** to you concerning bread? But beware of the leaven of the Pharisees and Sadducees."
- Matthew 16:12 Then they understood that He did not **say <3004 lego>** to beware of the leaven of bread, but of the teaching of the Pharisees and Sadducees.
- Matthew 16:17 And Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to him, "Blessed are you, Simon Barjona, because flesh and blood did not reveal *this* to you, but My Father who is in heaven.
- Matthew 16:18 "I also **say <3004 lego>** to you that you are Peter, and upon this rock I will build My church; and the gates of Hades will not overpower it.
- Matthew 16:20 Then He warned the disciples that they should **tell <3004 lego>** no one that He was the Christ.
- Matthew 16:23 But He turned and said <3004 lego> to Peter, "Get behind Me, Satan! You are a stumbling block to Me; for you are not setting your mind on God's interests, but man's."
- Matthew 16:24 Then Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to His disciples, "If anyone wishes to come after Me, he must deny himself, and take up his cross and follow Me.
- Matthew 16:28 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, there are some of those who are standing here who will not taste death until they see the Son of Man coming in His kingdom."
- Matthew 17:5 While he was still speaking, a bright cloud overshadowed them, and behold, a voice out of the cloud said <3004 lego>, "This is My beloved Son, with whom I am well-pleased; listen to Him!"
- Matthew 17:7 And Jesus came to *them* and touched them and **said <3004 lego>**, "Get up, and do not be afraid."
- Matthew 17:9 As they were coming down from the mountain, Jesus commanded them, **saying** <3004 lego>, "Tell <3004 lego> the vision to no one until the Son of Man has risen from the dead."
- Matthew 17:12 but I say <3004 lego> to you that Elijah already came, and they did not recognize him, but did to him whatever they wished. So also the Son of Man is going to suffer at their hands."

- Matthew 17:17 And Jesus answered and said <3004 lego>, "You unbelieving and perverted generation, how long shall I be with you? How long shall I put up with you? Bring him here to Me"
- Matthew 17:20 And He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Because of the littleness of your faith; for truly I say <3004 lego> to you, if you have faith the size of a mustard seed, you will say <3004 lego> to this mountain, 'Move from here to there,' and it will move; and nothing will be impossible to you.
- Matthew 17:22 And while they were gathering together in Galilee, Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to them, "The Son of Man is going to be delivered into the hands of men;
- Matthew 17:25 He *said <3004 lego>, "Yes." And when he came into the house, Jesus spoke to him first, saying <3004 lego>, "What do you think, Simon? From whom do the kings of the earth collect customs or poll-tax, from their sons or from strangers?"
- Matthew 18:3 and said <3004 lego>, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, unless you are converted and become like children, you will not enter the kingdom of heaven.
- Matthew 18:10 "See that you do not despise one of these little ones, for I say <3004 lego> to you that their angels in heaven continually see the face of My Father who is in heaven.
- Matthew 18:13 "If it turns out that he finds it, truly I say <3004 lego> to you, he rejoices over it more than over the ninety-nine which have not gone astray.
- Matthew 18:17 "If he refuses to listen to them, tell <3004 lego> it to the church; and if he refuses to listen even to the church, let him be to you as a Gentile and a tax collector.
- Matthew 18:18 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, whatever you bind on earth shall have been bound in heaven; and whatever you loose on earth shall have been loosed in heaven.
- Matthew 18:19 "Again I say <3004 lego> to you, that if two of you agree on earth about anything that they may ask, it shall be done for them by My Father who is in heaven.
- Matthew 18:22 Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "I do not say <3004 lego> to you, up to seven times, but up to seventy times seven.
- Matthew 18:32 "Then summoning him, his lord *said <3004 lego> to him, 'You wicked slave, I forgave you all that debt because you pleaded with me.
- Matthew 19:4 And He answered and said <3004 lego>, "Have you not read that He who created *them* from the beginning MADE THEM MALE AND FEMALE,
- Matthew 19:5 and said <3004 lego>, 'FOR THIS REASON A MAN SHALL LEAVE HIS FATHER AND MOTHER AND BE JOINED TO HIS WIFE, AND THE TWO SHALL BECOME ONE FLESH'?
- Matthew 19:8 He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Because of your hardness of heart Moses permitted you to divorce your wives; but from the beginning it has not been this way.
- Matthew 19:9 "And I say <3004 lego> to you, whoever divorces his wife, except for immorality, and marries another woman commits adultery."
- Matthew 19:10 The disciples *said <3004 lego> to Him, "If the relationship of the man with his wife is like this, it is better not to marry."
- Matthew 19:11 But He **said <3004 lego>** to them, "Not all men *can* accept this statement, but *only* those to whom it has been given.
- Matthew 19:14 But Jesus said <3004 lego>, "Let the children alone, and do not hinder them from coming to Me; for the kingdom of heaven belongs to such as these."
- Matthew 19:17 And He **said <3004 lego>** to him, "Why are you asking Me about what is good? There is *only* One who is good; but if you wish to enter into life, keep the commandments."

- Matthew 19:18 *Then* he *said <3004 lego> to Him, "Which ones?" And Jesus said, "YOU SHALL NOT COMMIT MURDER; YOU SHALL NOT COMMIT ADULTERY; YOU SHALL NOT STEAL; YOU SHALL NOT BEAR FALSE WITNESS;
- Matthew 19:20 The young man *said <3004 lego> to Him, "All these things I have kept; what am I still lacking?"
- Matthew 19:23 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to His disciples, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, it is hard for a rich man to enter the kingdom of heaven.
- Matthew 19:24 "Again I say <3004 lego> to you, it is easier for a camel to go through the eye of a needle, than for a rich man to enter the kingdom of God."
- Matthew 19:26 And looking at *them* Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "With people this is impossible, but with God all things are possible."
- Matthew 19:28 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, that you who have followed Me, in the regeneration when the Son of Man will sit on His glorious throne, you also shall sit upon twelve thrones, judging the twelve tribes of Israel.
- Matthew 20:13 "But he answered and said <3004 lego> to one of them, 'Friend, I am doing you no wrong; did you not agree with me for a denarius?
- Matthew 20:17 As Jesus was about to go up to Jerusalem, He took the twelve *disciples* aside by themselves, and on the way He said <3004 lego> to them,
- Matthew 20:23 He *said <3004 lego> to them, "My cup you shall drink; but to sit on My right and on My left, this is not Mine to give, but it is for those for whom it has been prepared by My Father."
- Matthew 20:25 But Jesus called them to Himself and said <3004 lego>, "You know that the rulers of the Gentiles lord it over them, and *their* great men exercise authority over them.
- Matthew 20:32 And Jesus stopped and called them, and **said <3004 lego>**, "What do you want Me to do for you?"
- Matthew 21:4 This took place to fulfill what was **spoken <3004 lego>** through the prophet:
- Matthew 21:5 "SAY <3004 lego> TO THE DAUGHTER OF ZION, 'BEHOLD YOUR KING IS COMING TO YOU, GENTLE, AND MOUNTED ON A DONKEY, EVEN ON A COLT, THE FOAL OF A BEAST OF BURDEN."
- Matthew 21:13 And He *said <3004 lego> to them, "It is written, 'MY HOUSE SHALL BE CALLED A HOUSE OF PRAYER'; but you are making it a ROBBERS' DEN."
- Matthew 21:16 and said <3004 lego> to Him, "Do You hear what these *children* are saying <3004 lego>?" And Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "Yes; have you never read, 'OUT OF THE MOUTH OF INFANTS AND NURSING BABIES YOU HAVE PREPARED PRAISE FOR YOURSELF'?"
- Matthew 21:19 Seeing a lone fig tree by the road, He came to it and found nothing on it except leaves only; and He *said <3004 lego> to it, "No longer shall there ever be *any* fruit from you." And at once the fig tree withered.
- Matthew 21:21 And Jesus answered and said <3004 lego> to them, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, if you have faith and do not doubt, you will not only do what was done to the fig tree, but even if you say <3004 lego> to this mountain, 'Be taken up and cast into the sea,' it will happen.
- Matthew 21:24 Jesus **said** <3004 lego> to them, "I will also ask you one thing, which if you **tell** <3004 lego> Me, I will also **tell** <3004 lego> you by what authority I do these things.
- Matthew 21:27 And answering Jesus, they said <3004 lego>, "We do not know." He also said to them, "Neither will I tell <3004 lego> you by what authority I do these things.

- Matthew 21:31 "Which of the two did the will of his father?" They *said <3004 lego>, "The first." Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you that the tax collectors and prostitutes will get into the kingdom of God before you.
- Matthew 21:42 Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "Did you never read in the Scriptures, 'THE STONE WHICH THE BUILDERS REJECTED, THIS BECAME THE CHIEF CORNER *stone;* THIS CAME ABOUT FROM THE LORD, AND IT IS MARVELOUS IN OUR EYES'?
- Matthew 21:43 "Therefore I say <3004 lego> to you, the kingdom of God will be taken away from you and given to a people, producing the fruit of it.
- Matthew 22:1 Jesus spoke <3004 lego> to them again in parables, saying <3004 lego>,
- Matthew 22:4 "Again he sent out other slaves **saying <3004 lego>**, **'Tell <3004 lego>** those who have been invited, "Behold, I have prepared my dinner; my oxen and my fattened livestock are *all* butchered and everything is ready; come to the wedding feast."
- Matthew 22:8 "Then he *said <3004 lego> to his slaves, 'The wedding is ready, but those who were invited were not worthy.
- Matthew 22:13 "Then the king said <3004 lego> to the servants, 'Bind him hand and foot, and throw him into the outer darkness; in that place there will be weeping and gnashing of teeth.'
- Matthew 22:18 But Jesus perceived their malice, and said <3004 lego>, "Why are you testing Me, you hypocrites?
- Matthew 22:20 And He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Whose likeness and inscription is this?"
- Matthew 22:21 They *said <3004 lego> to Him, "Caesar's." Then He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Then render to Caesar the things that are Caesar's; and to God the things that are God's."
- Matthew 22:29 But Jesus answered and said <3004 lego> to them, "You are mistaken, not understanding the Scriptures nor the power of God.
- Matthew 22:31 "But regarding the resurrection of the dead, have you not read what was **spoken** <3004 lego> to you by God:
- Matthew 22:42 "What do you think about the Christ, whose son is He?" They *said <3004 lego> to Him, "*The son* of David."
- Matthew 22:43 He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Then how does David in the Spirit call Him 'Lord,' saving <3004 lego>,
- Matthew 22:44 'THE LORD **SAID <3004 lego>** TO MY LORD, "SIT AT MY RIGHT HAND, UNTIL I PUT YOUR ENEMIES BENEATH YOUR FEET"'?
- Matthew 23:2 **saying <3004 lego>**: "The scribes and the Pharisees have seated themselves in the chair of Moses;
- Matthew 23:3 therefore all that they **tell <3004 lego>** you, do and observe, but do not do according to their deeds; for they **say <3004 lego>** things and do not do them.
- Matthew 23:16 "Woe to you, blind guides, who **say <3004 lego>**, 'Whoever swears by the temple, *that* is nothing; but whoever swears by the gold of the temple is obligated.'
- Matthew 23:30 and say <3004 lego>, 'If we had been *living* in the days of our fathers, we would not have been partners with them in *shedding* the blood of the prophets.'
- Matthew 23:36 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, all these things will come upon this generation.
- Matthew 23:39 "For I say <3004 lego> to you, from now on you will not see Me until you say <3004 lego>, 'BLESSED IS HE WHO COMES IN THE NAME OF THE LORD!'"

- Matthew 24:2 And He said <3004 lego > to them, "Do you not see all these things? Truly I say <3004 lego > to you, not one stone here will be left upon another, which will not be torn down."
- Matthew 24:3 As He was sitting on the Mount of Olives, the disciples came to Him privately, saying <3004 lego>, "Tell <3004 lego> us, when will these things happen, and what will be the sign of Your coming, and of the end of the age?"
- Matthew 24:4 And Jesus answered and said <3004 lego> to them, "See to it that no one misleads you.
- Matthew 24:5 "For many will come in My name, **saying <3004 lego>**, 'I am the Christ,' and will mislead many.
- Matthew 24:15 "Therefore when you see the ABOMINATION OF DESOLATION which was **spoken <3004 lego>** of through Daniel the prophet, standing in the holy place (let the reader understand),
- Matthew 24:23 "Then if anyone says <3004 lego> to you, 'Behold, here is the Christ,' or 'There *He is*,' do not believe *him*.
- Matthew 24:26 "So if they **say <3004 lego>** to you, 'Behold, He is in the wilderness,' do not go out, *or*, 'Behold, He is in the inner rooms,' do not believe *them*.
- Matthew 24:34 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, this generation will not pass away until all these things take place.
- Matthew 24:47 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you that he will put him in charge of all his possessions.
- Matthew 24:48 "But if that evil slave says <3004 lego> in his heart, 'My master is not coming for a long time,'
- Matthew 25:8 "The foolish said <3004 lego> to the prudent, 'Give us some of your oil, for our lamps are going out.'
- Matthew 25:12 "But he answered, 'Truly I say <3004 lego > to you, I do not know you.'
- Matthew 25:20 "The one who had received the five talents came up and brought five more talents, **saying <3004 lego>**, 'Master, you entrusted five talents to me. See, I have gained five more talents.'
- Matthew 25:26 "But his master answered and said <3004 lego> to him, 'You wicked, lazy slave, you knew that I reap where I did not sow and gather where I scattered no *seed*.
- Matthew 25:34 "Then the King will say <3004 lego> to those on His right, 'Come, you who are blessed of My Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world.
- Matthew 25:40 "The King will answer and say <3004 lego> to them, 'Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, to the extent that you did it to one of these brothers of Mine, *even* the least *of them*, you did it to Me.'
- Matthew 25:41 "Then He will also say <3004 lego> to those on His left, 'Depart from Me, accursed ones, into the eternal fire which has been prepared for the devil and his angels;
- Matthew 25:45 "Then He will answer them, 'Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, to the extent that you did not do it to one of the least of these, you did not do it to Me.'
- Matthew 26:1 When Jesus had finished all these words, He said <3004 lego> to His disciples,
- Matthew 26:10 But Jesus, aware of this, said <3004 lego> to them, "Why do you bother the woman? For she has done a good deed to Me.
- Matthew 26:13 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, wherever this gospel is preached in the whole world, what this woman has done will also be spoken of in memory of her."

- Matthew 26:18 And He said <3004 lego>, "Go into the city to a certain man, and say <3004 lego> to him, 'The Teacher says <3004 lego>, "My time is near; I am to keep the Passover at your house with My disciples.""
- Matthew 26:21 As they were eating, He said <3004 lego>, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you that one of you will betray Me."
- Matthew 26:25 And Judas, who was betraying Him, **said <3004 lego>**, "Surely it is not I, Rabbi?" Jesus ***said <3004 lego>** to him, "You have **said <3004 lego>** it yourself."
- Matthew 26:26 While they were eating, Jesus took *some* bread, and after a blessing, He broke *it* and gave *it* to the disciples, and **said <3004 lego>**, "Take, eat; this is My body."
- Matthew 26:27 And when He had taken a cup and given thanks, He gave *it* to them, **saying** <3004 lego>, "Drink from it, all of you;
- Matthew 26:29 "But I say <3004 lego> to you, I will not drink of this fruit of the vine from now on until that day when I drink it new with you in My Father's kingdom."
- Matthew 26:31 Then Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "You will all fall away because of Me this night, for it is written, 'I WILL STRIKE DOWN THE SHEPHERD, AND THE SHEEP OF THE FLOCK SHALL BE SCATTERED.'
- Matthew 26:34 Jesus said to him, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you that this *very* night, before a rooster crows, you will deny Me three times."
- Matthew 26:36 Then Jesus *came with them to a place **called <3004 lego>** Gethsemane, and *said <3004 lego> to His disciples, "Sit here while I go over there and pray."
- Matthew 26:38 Then He *said <3004 lego> to them, "My soul is deeply grieved, to the point of death; remain here and keep watch with Me."
- Matthew 26:39 And He went a little beyond *them*, and fell on His face and prayed, **saying** <3004 lego>, "My Father, if it is possible, let this cup pass from Me; yet not as I will, but as You will."
- Matthew 26:40 And He *came to the disciples and *found them sleeping, and *said <3004 lego> to Peter, "So, you *men* could not keep watch with Me for one hour?
- Matthew 26:42 He went away again a second time and prayed, **saying <3004 lego>**, "My Father, if this cannot pass away unless I drink it, Your will be done."
- Matthew 26:44 And He left them again, and went away and prayed a third time, **saying <3004 lego>** the same thing once more.
- Matthew 26:45 Then He *came to the disciples and *said <3004 lego> to them, "Are you still sleeping and resting? Behold, the hour is at hand and the Son of Man is being betrayed into the hands of sinners.
- Matthew 26:50 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to him, "Friend, do what you have come for." Then they came and laid hands on Jesus and seized Him.
- Matthew 26:52 Then Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "Put your sword back into its place; for all those who take up the sword shall perish by the sword.
- Matthew 26:55 At that time Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to the crowds, "Have you come out with swords and clubs to arrest Me as *you would* against a robber? Every day I used to sit in the temple teaching and you did not seize Me.
- Matthew 26:63 But Jesus kept silent. And the high priest **said <3004 lego>** to Him, "I adjure You by the living God, that You **tell <3004 lego>** us whether You are the Christ, the Son of God."

- Matthew 26:64 Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "You have said <3004 lego> it *yourself;* nevertheless I tell <3004 lego> you, hereafter you will see THE SON OF MAN SITTING AT THE RIGHT HAND OF POWER, and COMING ON THE CLOUDS OF HEAVEN."
- Matthew 26:75 And Peter remembered the word which Jesus had said <3004 lego>, "Before a rooster crows, you will deny Me three times." And he went out and wept bitterly.
- Matthew 27:9 Then that which was **spoken <3004 lego>** through Jeremiah the prophet was fulfilled: "AND THEY TOOK THE THIRTY PIECES OF SILVER, THE PRICE OF THE ONE WHOSE PRICE HAD BEEN SET by the sons of Israel;
- Matthew 27:17 So when the people gathered together, Pilate said <3004 lego> to them, "Whom do you want me to release for you? Barabbas, or Jesus who is called <3004 lego> Christ?"
- Matthew 27:19 While he was sitting on the judgment seat, his wife sent him *a message*, saying <3004 lego>, "Have nothing to do with that righteous Man; for last night I suffered greatly in a dream because of Him."
- Matthew 27:22 Pilate *said <3004 lego> to them, "Then what shall I do with Jesus who is called <3004 lego> Christ?" They all *said <3004 lego>, "Crucify Him!"
- Matthew 27:25 And all the people **said <3004 lego>**, "His blood shall be on us and on our children!"
- Matthew 27:29 And after twisting together a crown of thorns, they put it on His head, and a reed in His right hand; and they knelt down before Him and mocked Him, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Hail, King of the Jews!"
- Matthew 27:43 "HE TRUSTS IN GOD; LET GOD RESCUE *Him* now, IF HE DELIGHTS IN HIM; for He said <3004 lego>, 'I am the Son of God.'"
- Matthew 27:46 About the ninth hour Jesus cried out with a loud voice, **saying <3004 lego>**, "ELI, ELI, LAMA SABACHTHANI?" that is, "MY GOD, MY GOD, WHY HAVE YOU FORSAKEN ME?"
- Matthew 27:47 And some of those who were standing there, when they heard it, *began* saying <3004 lego>, "This man is calling for Elijah."
- Matthew 27:54 Now the centurion, and those who were with him keeping guard over Jesus, when they saw the earthquake and the things that were happening, became very frightened and said <3004 lego>, "Truly this was the Son of God!"
- Matthew 28:6 "He is not here, for He has risen, just as He said <3004 lego>. Come, see the place where He was lying.
- Matthew 28:7 "Go quickly and **tell <3004 lego>** His disciples that He has risen from the dead; and behold, He is going ahead of you into Galilee, there you will see Him; behold, I have **told <3004 lego>** you."
- Matthew 28:9 And behold, Jesus met them and **greeted <3004 lego>** them. And they came up and took hold of His feet and worshiped Him.
- Matthew 28:10 Then Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "Do not be afraid; go and take word to My brethren to leave for Galilee, and there they will see Me."
- Matthew 28:18 And Jesus came up and spoke to them, **saying <3004 lego>**, "All authority has been given to Me in heaven and on earth.
- Mark 1:15 and **saying <3004 lego>**, "The time is fulfilled, and the kingdom of God is at hand; repent and believe in the gospel."
- Mark 1:17 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "Follow Me, and I will make you become fishers of men."

- Mark 1:24 **saying <3004 lego>**, "What business do we have with each other, Jesus of Nazareth? Have You come to destroy us? I know who You are—the Holy One of God!"
- Mark 1:25 And Jesus rebuked him, saying <3004 lego>, "Be quiet, and come out of him!"
- Mark 1:38 He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Let us go somewhere else to the towns nearby, so that I may preach there also; for that is what I came for."
- Mark 2:5 And Jesus seeing their faith *said <3004 lego> to the paralytic, "Son, your sins are forgiven."
- Mark 2:10 "But so that you may know that the Son of Man has authority on earth to forgive sins"—He *said <3004 lego> to the paralytic,
- Mark 2:11 "I say <3004 lego> to you, get up, pick up your pallet and go home."
- Mark 2:27 Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "The Sabbath was made for man, and not man for the Sabbath.
- Mark 4:9 And He was saying <3004 lego>, "He who has ears to hear, let him hear."
- Mark 4:11 And He was **saying <3004 lego>** to them, "To you has been given the mystery of the kingdom of God, but those who are outside get everything in parables,
- Mark 4:39 And He got up and rebuked the wind and said <3004 lego> to the sea, "Hush, be still." And the wind died down and it became perfectly calm.
- Mark 5:41 Taking the child by the hand, He *said <3004 lego> to her, "Talitha kum!" (which translated means, "Little girl, I say <3004 lego> to you, get up!").
- Mark 7:6 And He **said <3004 lego>** to them, "Rightly did Isaiah prophesy of you hypocrites, as it is written: 'THIS PEOPLE HONORS ME WITH THEIR LIPS, BUT THEIR HEART IS FAR AWAY FROM ME.
- Mark 7:9 He was also **saying <3004 lego>** to them, "You are experts at setting aside the commandment of God in order to keep your tradition.
- Mark 7:10 "For Moses said <3004 lego>, 'HONOR YOUR FATHER AND YOUR MOTHER'; and, 'HE WHO SPEAKS EVIL OF FATHER OR MOTHER, IS TO BE PUT TO DEATH';
- Mark 7:11 but you say <3004 lego>, 'If a man says <3004 lego> to his father or his mother, whatever I have that would help you is Corban (that is to say, given to God), '
- Mark 7:14 After He called the crowd to Him again, He *began* saying <3004 lego> to them, "Listen to Me, all of you, and understand:
- Mark 7:18 And He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Are you so lacking in understanding also? Do you not understand that whatever goes into the man from outside cannot defile him,
- Mark 7:20 And He was **saying <3004 lego>**, "That which proceeds out of the man, that is what defiles the man.
- Mark 7:34 and looking up to heaven with a deep sigh, He *said <3004 lego> to him, "Ephphatha!" that is, "Be opened!"
- Mark 8:15 And He was giving orders to them, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Watch out! Beware of the leaven of the Pharisees and the leaven of Herod."
- Mark 8:29 And He *continued* by questioning them, "But who do you say <3004 lego> that I am?" Peter *answered and *said <3004 lego> to Him, "You are the Christ."
- Mark 8:34 And He summoned the crowd with His disciples, and **said <3004 lego>** to them, "If anyone wishes to come after Me, he must deny himself, and take up his cross and follow Me.
- Mark 9:23 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to him, "'If You can?' All things are possible to him who believes."

- Mark 9:31 For He was teaching His disciples and **telling <3004 lego>** them, "The Son of Man is to be delivered into the hands of men, and they will kill Him; and when He has been killed, He will rise three days later."
- Mark 9:35 Sitting down, He called the twelve and *said <3004 lego> to them, "If anyone wants to be first, he shall be last of all and servant of all."
- Mark 10:11 And He *said <3004 lego> to them, "Whoever divorces his wife and marries another woman commits adultery against her;
- Mark 10:21 Looking at him, Jesus felt a love for him and said <3004 lego> to him, "One thing you lack: go and sell all you possess and give to the poor, and you will have treasure in heaven; and come, follow Me."
- Mark 10:38 But Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "You do not know what you are asking. Are you able to drink the cup that I drink, or to be baptized with the baptism with which I am baptized?"
- Mark 11:17 And He *began* to teach and say <3004 lego> to them, "Is it not written, 'MY HOUSE SHALL BE CALLED A HOUSE OF PRAYER FOR ALL THE NATIONS'? But you have made it a ROBBERS' DEN."
- Mark 11:21 Being reminded, Peter *said <3004 lego> to Him, "Rabbi, look, the fig tree which You cursed has withered."
- Mark 11:22 And Jesus *answered saying <3004 lego> to them, "Have faith in God.
- Mark 11:24 "Therefore I say <3004 lego> to you, all things for which you pray and ask, believe that you have received them, and they will be *granted* you.
- Mark 12:17 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "Render to Caesar the things that are Caesar's, and to God the things that are God's." And they were amazed at Him.
- Mark 12:26 "But regarding the fact that the dead rise again, have you not read in the book of Moses, in the *passage* about *the burning* bush, how God **spoke <3004 lego>** to him, **saying <3004 lego>**, 'I AM THE GOD OF ABRAHAM, AND THE GOD OF ISAAC, and the God of Jacob'?
- Mark 12:36 "David himself said <3004 lego> in the Holy Spirit, 'THE LORD SAID <3004 lego> TO MY LORD, "SIT AT MY RIGHT HAND, UNTIL I PUT YOUR ENEMIES BENEATH YOUR FEET."'
- Mark 12:43 Calling His disciples to Him, He said <3004 lego> to them, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, this poor widow put in more than all the contributors to the treasury;
- Mark 13:2 And Jesus said <3004 lego> to him, "Do you see these great buildings? Not one stone will be left upon another which will not be torn down."
- Mark 14:24 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "This is My blood of the covenant, which is poured out for many.
- Mark 14:27 And Jesus *said <3004 lego> to them, "You will all fall away, because it is written, 'I WILL STRIKE DOWN THE SHEPHERD, AND THE SHEEP SHALL BE SCATTERED.'
- Mark 14:30 And Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, that this very night, before a rooster crows twice, you yourself will deny Me three times."
- Mark 14:58 "We heard Him **say <3004 lego>**, 'I will destroy this temple made with hands, and in three days I will build another made without hands.'"
- Mark 14:62 And Jesus said <3004 lego>, "I am; and you shall see THE SON OF MAN SITTING AT THE RIGHT HAND OF POWER, and COMING WITH THE CLOUDS OF HEAVEN."

- Luke 1:35 The angel answered and said <3004 lego> to her, "The Holy Spirit will come upon you, and the power of the Most High will overshadow you; and for that reason the holy Child shall be called the Son of God.
- Luke 1:67 And his father Zacharias was filled with the Holy Spirit, and prophesied, **saying** <3004 lego>:
- Luke 3:11 And he would answer and say <3004 lego> to them, "The man who has two tunics is to share with him who has none; and he who has food is to do likewise."
- Luke 3:13 And he said <3004 lego> to them, "Collect no more than what you have been ordered to."
- Luke 3:14 *Some* soldiers were questioning him, **saying <3004 lego>**, "And *what about* us, what shall we do?" And he **said <3004 lego>** to them, "Do not take money from anyone by force, or accuse *anyone* falsely, and be content with your wages."
- Luke 4:3 And the devil **said <3004 lego>** to Him, "If You are the Son of God, tell <3004 lego> this stone to become bread."
- Luke 4:12 And Jesus answered and said <3004 lego> to him, "It is said <3004 lego>, 'YOU SHALL NOT PUT THE LORD YOUR GOD TO THE TEST.'"
- Luke 4:21 And He began to say <3004 lego> to them, "Today this Scripture has been fulfilled in your hearing."
- Luke 4:23 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "No doubt you will quote <3004 lego> this proverb to Me, 'Physician, heal yourself! Whatever we heard was done at Capernaum, do here in your hometown as well."
- Luke 4:43 But He said <3004 lego> to them, "I must preach the kingdom of God to the other cities also, for I was sent for this purpose."
- Luke 5:21 The scribes and the Pharisees began to reason, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Who is this *man* who speaks blasphemies? Who can forgive sins, but God alone?"
- Luke 5:23 "Which is easier, to say <3004 lego>, 'Your sins have been forgiven you,' or to say <3004 lego>, 'Get up and walk'?
- Luke 5:24 "But, so that you may know that the Son of Man has authority on earth to forgive sins,"—He said <3004 lego> to the paralytic—" I say <3004 lego> to you, get up, and pick up your stretcher and go home."
- Luke 6:5 And He was saying <3004 lego> to them, "The Son of Man is Lord of the Sabbath." Luke 6:27 "But I say <3004 lego> to you who hear, love your enemies, do good to those who hate you,
- Luke 6:39 And He also **spoke <3004 lego>** a parable to them: "A blind man cannot guide a blind man, can he? Will they not both fall into a pit?
- Luke 6:46 "Why do you call Me, 'Lord, Lord,' and do not do what I say <3004 lego>?
- Luke 7:14 And He came up and touched the coffin; and the bearers came to a halt. And He said <3004 lego>, "Young man, I say <3004 lego> to you, arise!"
- Luke 7:22 And He answered and said <3004 lego> to them, "Go and report to John what you have seen and heard: *the* BLIND RECEIVE SIGHT, *the* lame walk, *the* lepers are cleansed, and *the* deaf hear, *the* dead are raised up, *the* POOR HAVE THE GOSPEL PREACHED TO THEM
- Luke 7:48 Then He said <3004 lego> to her, "Your sins have been forgiven."
- Luke 8:10 And He said <3004 lego>, "To you it has been granted to know the mysteries of the kingdom of God, but to the rest *it is* in parables, so that SEEING THEY MAY NOT SEE, AND HEARING THEY MAY NOT UNDERSTAND.

- Luke 8:54 He, however, took her by the hand and called, saying <3004 lego>, "Child, arise!"
- Luke 9:3 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "Take nothing for *your* journey, neither a staff, nor a bag, nor bread, nor money; and do not *even* have two tunics apiece.
- Luke 9:20 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "But who do you say <3004 lego> that I am?" And Peter answered and said <3004 lego>, "The Christ of God."
- Luke 9:22 **saying <3004 lego>**, "The Son of Man must suffer many things and be rejected by the elders and chief priests and scribes, and be killed and be raised up on the third day."
- Luke 9:23 And He was saying <3004 lego> to *them* all, "If anyone wishes to come after Me, he must deny himself, and take up his cross daily and follow Me.
- Luke 9:35 Then a voice came out of the cloud, **saying <3004 lego>**, "This is My Son, *My* Chosen One; listen to Him!"
- Luke 10:17 The seventy returned with joy, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Lord, even the demons are subject to us in Your name."
- Luke 10:18 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "I was watching Satan fall from heaven like lightning.
- Luke 10:28 And He said <3004 lego> to him, "You have answered correctly; DO THIS AND YOU WILL LIVE."
- Luke 11:9 "So I say <3004 lego> to you, ask, and it will be given to you; seek, and you will find; knock, and it will be opened to you.
- Luke 11:28 But He said <3004 lego>, "On the contrary, blessed are those who hear the word of God and observe it."
- Luke 12:4 "I say <3004 lego> to you, My friends, do not be afraid of those who kill the body and after that have no more that they can do.
- Luke 12:5 "But I will warn you whom to fear: fear the One who, after He has killed, has authority to cast into hell; yes, I tell <3004 lego> you, fear Him!
- Luke 12:8 "And I say <3004 lego> to you, everyone who confesses Me before men, the Son of Man will confess him also before the angels of God;
- Luke 12:10 "And everyone who **speaks** <3004 lego> a word against the Son of Man, it will be forgiven him; but he who blasphemes against the Holy Spirit, it will not be forgiven him.
- Luke 12:12 for the Holy Spirit will teach you in that very hour what you ought to say <3004 lego>."
- Luke 12:22 And He said <3004 lego> to His disciples, "For this reason I say <3004 lego> to you, do not worry about *your* life, *as to* what you will eat; nor for your body, *as to* what you will put on.
- Luke 12:37 "Blessed are those slaves whom the master will find on the alert when he comes; truly I **say** <3004 lego> to you, that he will gird himself *to serve*, and have them recline *at the table*, and will come up and wait on them.
- Luke 12:44 "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you that he will put him in charge of all his possessions.
- Luke 12:51 "Do you suppose that I came to grant peace on earth? I tell <3004 lego> you, no, but rather division;
- Luke 13:3 "I tell <3004 lego> you, no, but unless you repent, you will all likewise perish.
- Luke 13:24 "Strive to enter through the narrow door; for many, I tell <3004 lego> you, will seek to enter and will not be able.
- Luke 13:27 and He will **say <3004 lego>**, **'I tell <3004 lego>** you, I do not know where you are from; DEPART FROM ME, ALL YOU EVILDOERS.'

- Luke 16:15 And He said <3004 lego> to them, "You are those who justify yourselves in the sight of men, but God knows your hearts; for that which is highly esteemed among men is detestable in the sight of God.
- Luke 17:10 "So you too, when you do all the things which are commanded you, **say <3004 lego>**, 'We are unworthy slaves; we have done *only* that which we ought to have done.'"
- Luke 17:34 "I tell <3004 lego> you, on that night there will be two in one bed; one will be taken and the other will be left.
- Luke 18:13 "But the tax collector, standing some distance away, was even unwilling to lift up his eyes to heaven, but was beating his breast, **saying <3004 lego>**, 'God, be merciful to me, the sinner!'
- Luke 18:14 "I tell <3004 lego> you, this man went to his house justified rather than the other; for everyone who exalts himself will be humbled, but he who humbles himself will be exalted."
- Luke 18:22 When Jesus heard *this*, He said <3004 lego> to him, "One thing you still lack; sell all that you possess and distribute it to the poor, and you shall have treasure in heaven; and come, follow Me."
- Luke 18:24 And Jesus looked at him and said <3004 lego>, "How hard it is for those who are wealthy to enter the kingdom of God!
- Luke 19:17 "And he said <3004 lego> to him, 'Well done, good slave, because you have been faithful in a very little thing, you are to be in authority over ten cities.'
- Luke 19:18 "The second came, saying <3004 lego>, 'Your mina, master, has made five minas.'
- Luke 19:19 "And he said <3004 lego> to him also, 'And you are to be over five cities.'
- Luke 19:20 "Another came, saying <3004 lego>, 'Master, here is your mina, which I kept put away in a handkerchief;
- Luke 19:22 "He *said <3004 lego> to him, 'By your own words I will judge you, you worthless slave. Did you know that I am an exacting man, taking up what I did not lay down and reaping what I did not sow?
- Luke 19:24 "Then he said <3004 lego> to the bystanders, 'Take the mina away from him and give it to the one who has the ten minas.'
- Luke 19:25 "And they said <3004 lego> to him, 'Master, he has ten minas already.'
- Luke 19:26 "I tell <3004 lego> you that to everyone who has, more shall be given, but from the one who does not have, even what he does have shall be taken away.
- Luke 19:38 **shouting <3004 lego>**: "BLESSED IS THE KING WHO COMES IN THE NAME OF THE LORD; Peace in heaven and glory in the highest!"
- Luke 19:40 But Jesus answered, "I *tell* <3004 lego> you, if these become silent, the stones will cry out!"
- Luke 19:46 **saying <3004 lego>** to them, "It is written, 'AND MY HOUSE SHALL BE A HOUSE OF PRAYER,' but you have made it a ROBBERS' DEN."
- Luke 20:17 But Jesus looked at them and said <3004 lego>, "What then is this that is written: 'THE STONE WHICH THE BUILDERS REJECTED, THIS BECAME THE CHIEF CORNER stone'?
- Luke 20:25 And He **said** <3004 lego> to them, "Then render to Caesar the things that are Caesar's, and to God the things that are God's."
- Luke 20:42 "For David himself says <3004 lego> in the book of Psalms, 'THE LORD SAID <3004 lego> TO MY LORD, "SIT AT MY RIGHT HAND,

- Luke 21:3 And He said <3004 lego>, "Truly I say <3004 lego> to you, this poor widow put in more than all *of them*;
- Luke 22:19 And when He had taken *some* bread *and* given thanks, He broke it and gave it to them, **saying <3004 lego>**, "This is My body which is given for you; do this in remembrance of Me."
- Luke 22:20 And in the same way *He took* the cup after they had eaten, **saying <3004 lego>**, "This cup which is poured out for you is the new covenant in My blood.
- Luke 22:37 "For I tell <3004 lego> you that this which is written must be fulfilled in Me, 'AND HE WAS NUMBERED WITH TRANSGRESSORS'; for that which refers to Me has *its* fulfillment."
- Luke 22:70 And they all said <3004 lego>, "Are You the Son of God, then?" And He said to them, "Yes, I am."
- Luke 24:44 Now He said <3004 lego> to them, "These are My words which I spoke to you while I was still with you, that all things which are written about Me in the Law of Moses and the Prophets and the Psalms must be fulfilled."
- Luke 24:46 and He said <3004 lego> to them, "Thus it is written, that the Christ would suffer and rise again from the dead the third day,
- John 1:23 He said, "I am A VOICE OF ONE CRYING IN THE WILDERNESS, 'MAKE STRAIGHT THE WAY OF THE LORD,' as Isaiah the prophet said <3004 lego>."
- John 1:29 The next day he *saw Jesus coming to him and *said <3004 lego>, "Behold, the Lamb of God who takes away the sin of the world!
- John 1:32 John testified **saying <3004 lego>**, "I have seen the Spirit descending as a dove out of heaven, and He remained upon Him.
- John 1:36 and he looked at Jesus as He walked, and *said <3004 lego>, "Behold, the Lamb of God!"
- John 2:20 The Jews then **said <3004 lego>**, "It took forty-six years to build this temple, and will You raise it up in three days?"
- John 2:21 But He was speaking <3004 lego> of the temple of His body.
- John 3:3 Jesus answered and **said <3004 lego>** to him, "Truly, truly, I **say <3004 lego>** to you, unless one is born again he cannot see the kingdom of God."
- John 3:5 Jesus answered, "Truly, truly, I say <3004 lego> to you, unless one is born of water and the Spirit he cannot enter into the kingdom of God.
- John 4:25 The woman *said <3004 lego> to Him, "I know that Messiah is coming (He who is called <3004 lego> Christ); when that One comes, He will declare all things to us."
- John 4:26 Jesus *said <3004 lego> to her, "I who speak to you am He."
- John 5:18 For this reason therefore the Jews were seeking all the more to kill Him, because He not only was breaking the Sabbath, but also was **calling <3004 lego>** God His own Father, making Himself equal with God.
- John 6:29 Jesus answered and **said <3004 lego>** to them, "This is the work of God, that you believe in Him whom He has sent."
- John 6:35 Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "I am the bread of life; he who comes to Me will not hunger, and he who believes in Me will never thirst.
- John 6:53 So Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to them, "Truly, truly, I **say <3004 lego>** to you, unless you eat the flesh of the Son of Man and drink His blood, you have no life in yourselves.
- John 7:26 "Look, He is speaking publicly, and they are saying <3004 lego> nothing to Him. The rulers do not really know that this is the Christ, do they?

- John 7:28 Then Jesus cried out in the temple, teaching and **saying <3004 lego>**, "You both know Me and know where I am from; and I have not come of Myself, but He who sent Me is true, whom you do not know.
- John 7:39 But this He **spoke <3004 lego>** of the Spirit, whom those who believed in Him were to receive; for the Spirit was not yet *given*, because Jesus was not yet glorified.
- John 7:41 Others were **saying <3004 lego>**, "This is the Christ." Still others were **saying <3004 lego>**, "Surely the Christ is not going to come from Galilee, is He?
- John 8:4 they *said <3004 lego> to Him, "Teacher, this woman has been caught in adultery, in the very act.
- John 8:5 "Now in the Law Moses commanded us to stone such women; what then do You say <3004 lego>?"
- John 8:28 So Jesus **said <3004 lego>**, "When you lift up the Son of Man, then you will know that I am *He*, and I do nothing on My own initiative, but I speak these things as the Father taught Me.
- John 8:42 Jesus said <3004 lego> to them, "If God were your Father, you would love Me, for I proceeded forth and have come from God, for I have not even come on My own initiative, but He sent Me.
- John 8:58 Jesus **said <3004 lego>** to them, "Truly, truly, I **say <3004 lego>** to you, before Abraham was born, I am."
- John 9:22 His parents **said <3004 lego>** this because they were afraid of the Jews; for the Jews had already agreed that if anyone confessed Him to be Christ, he was to be put out of the synagogue.
- John 9:37 Jesus said <3004 lego> to him, "You have both seen Him, and He is the one who is talking with you."
- John 11:14 So Jesus then said <3004 lego> to them plainly, "Lazarus is dead,
- John 11:25 Jesus said <3004 lego> to her, "I am the resurrection and the life; he who believes in Me will live even if he dies.
- John 11:27 She *said <3004 lego> to Him, "Yes, Lord; I have believed that You are the Christ, the Son of God, even He who comes into the world."
- John 11:41 So they removed the stone. Then Jesus raised His eyes, and said <3004 lego>, "Father, I thank You that You have heard Me.
- John 11:43 When He had **said <3004 lego>** these things, He cried out with a loud voice, "Lazarus, come forth."
- John 12:38 *This was* to fulfill the word of Isaiah the prophet which he **spoke <3004 lego>**: "LORD, WHO HAS BELIEVED OUR REPORT? AND TO WHOM HAS THE ARM OF THE LORD BEEN REVEALED?"
- John 12:50 "I know that His commandment is eternal life; therefore the things I speak, I speak just as the Father has **told <3004 lego>** Me."
- John 13:18 "I do not **speak <3004 lego>** of all of you. I know the ones I have chosen; but *it is* that the Scripture may be fulfilled, 'HE WHO EATS MY BREAD HAS LIFTED UP HIS HEEL AGAINST ME.'
- John 14:6 Jesus *said <3004 lego> to him, "I am the way, and the truth, and the life; no one comes to the Father but through Me.
- John 14:23 Jesus answered and **said <3004 lego>** to him, "If anyone loves Me, he will keep My word; and My Father will love him, and We will come to him and make Our abode with him.

- John 14:26 "But the Helper, the Holy Spirit, whom the Father will send in My name, He will teach you all things, and bring to your remembrance all that I said <3004 lego> to you.
- John 18:32 to fulfill the word of Jesus which He **spoke <3004 lego>**, signifying by what kind of death He was about to die.
- John 19:24 So they **said <3004 lego>** to one another, "Let us not tear it, but cast lots for it, *to decide* whose it shall be"; *this was* to fulfill the Scripture: "THEY DIVIDED MY OUTER GARMENTS AMONG THEM, AND FOR MY CLOTHING THEY CAST LOTS."
- John 19:28 After this, Jesus, knowing that all things had already been accomplished, to fulfill the Scripture, *said <3004 lego>, "I am thirsty."
- John 19:30 Therefore when Jesus had received the sour wine, He said <3004 lego>, "It is finished!" And He bowed His head and gave up His spirit.
- John 19:37 And again another Scripture says <3004 lego>, "THEY SHALL LOOK ON HIM WHOM THEY PIERCED."
- Acts 1:3 To these He also presented Himself alive after His suffering, by many convincing proofs, appearing to them over *a period of* forty days and **speaking <3004 lego>** of the things concerning the kingdom of God.
- Acts 1:9 And after He had **said <3004 lego>** these things, He was lifted up while they were looking on, and a cloud received Him out of their sight.
- Acts 1:11 They also **said <3004 lego>**, "Men of Galilee, why do you stand looking into the sky? This Jesus, who has been taken up from you into heaven, will come in just the same way as you have watched Him go into heaven."
- Acts 2:16 but this is what was **spoken <3004 lego>** of through the prophet Joel:
- Acts 2:17 'AND IT SHALL BE IN THE LAST DAYS,' God says <3004 lego>, 'THAT I WILL POUR FORTH OF MY SPIRIT ON ALL MANKIND; AND YOUR SONS AND YOUR DAUGHTERS SHALL PROPHESY, AND YOUR YOUNG MEN SHALL SEE VISIONS, AND YOUR OLD MEN SHALL DREAM DREAMS;
- Acts 2:25 "For David says <3004 lego> of Him, 'I SAW THE LORD ALWAYS IN MY PRESENCE; FOR HE IS AT MY RIGHT HAND, SO THAT I WILL NOT BE SHAKEN.
- Acts 2:34 "For it was not David who ascended into heaven, but he himself says <3004 lego>: 'THE LORD **SAID** <**3004 lego>** TO MY LORD, "SIT AT MY RIGHT HAND,
- Acts 3:2 And a man who had been lame from his mother's womb was being carried along, whom they used to set down every day at the gate of the temple which is **called <3004 lego>** Beautiful, in order to beg alms of those who were entering the temple.
- Acts 3:6 But Peter said <3004 lego>, "I do not possess silver and gold, but what I do have I give to you: In the name of Jesus Christ the Nazarene—walk!"
- Acts 3:22 "Moses said <3004 lego>, 'THE LORD GOD WILL RAISE UP FOR YOU A PROPHET LIKE ME FROM YOUR BRETHREN; TO HIM YOU SHALL GIVE HEED to everything He says to you.
- Acts 3:25 "It is you who are the sons of the prophets and of the covenant which God made with your fathers, saying <3004 lego> to Abraham, 'AND IN YOUR SEED ALL THE FAMILIES OF THE EARTH SHALL BE BLESSED.'
- Acts 4:24 And when they heard *this*, they lifted their voices to God with one accord and **said** <3004 lego>, "O Lord, it is You who MADE THE HEAVEN AND THE EARTH AND THE SEA, AND ALL THAT IS IN THEM,

- Acts 4:25 who by the Holy Spirit, *through* the mouth of our father David Your servant, **said** <3004 lego>, 'WHY DID THE GENTILES RAGE, AND THE PEOPLES DEVISE FUTILE THINGS?
- Acts 4:32 And the congregation of those who believed were of one heart and soul; and not one of them claimed <3004 lego> that anything belonging to him was his own, but all things were common property to them.
- Acts 5:3 But Peter said <3004 lego>, "Ananias, why has Satan filled your heart to lie to the Holy Spirit and to keep back *some* of the price of the land?
- Acts 5:8 And Peter responded to her, "Tell <3004 lego> me whether you sold the land for such and such a price?" And she said <3004 lego>, "Yes, that was the price."
- Acts 7:35 "This Moses whom they disowned, **saying <3004 lego>**, 'WHO MADE YOU A RULER AND A JUDGE?' is the one whom God sent *to be* both a ruler and a deliverer with the help of the angel who appeared to him in the thorn bush.
- Acts 7:37 "This is the Moses who said <3004 lego> to the sons of Israel, 'GOD WILL RAISE UP FOR YOU A PROPHET LIKE ME FROM YOUR BRETHREN.'
- Acts 8:20 But Peter said <3004 lego> to him, "May your silver perish with you, because you thought you could obtain the gift of God with money!
- Acts 8:37 [[And Philip said <3004 lego>, "If you believe with all your heart, you may." And he answered and said <3004 lego>, "I believe that Jesus Christ is the Son of God."]]
- Acts 9:5 And he said <3004 lego>, "Who are You, Lord?" And He said, "I am Jesus whom you are persecuting,
- Acts 9:17 So Ananias departed and entered the house, and after laying his hands on him **said** <3004 lego>, "Brother Saul, the Lord Jesus, who appeared to you on the road by which you were coming, has sent me so that you may regain your sight and be filled with the Holy Spirit."
- Acts 9:40 But Peter sent them all out and knelt down and prayed, and turning to the body, he said <3004 lego>, "Tabitha, arise." And she opened her eyes, and when she saw Peter, she sat up.
- Acts 10:4 And fixing his gaze on him and being much alarmed, he said <3004 lego>, "What is it, Lord?" And he said <3004 lego> to him, "Your prayers and alms have ascended as a memorial before God.
- Acts 10:28 And he said to them, "You yourselves know how unlawful it is for a man who is a Jew to associate with a foreigner or to visit him; and *yet* God has shown me that I should not call <3004 lego> any man unholy or unclean.
- Acts 10:34 Opening his mouth, Peter said <3004 lego>: "I most certainly understand *now* that God is not one to show partiality,
- Acts 11:16 "And I remembered the word of the Lord, how He used to say <3004 lego>, 'John baptized with water, but you will be baptized with the Holy Spirit.'
- Acts 13:35 "Therefore He also says <3004 lego> in another *Psalm*, 'YOU WILL NOT ALLOW YOUR HOLY ONE TO UNDERGO DECAY.'
- Acts 15:5 But some of the sect of the Pharisees who had believed stood up, **saying <3004 lego>**, "It is necessary to circumcise them and to direct them to observe the Law of Moses."
- Acts 16:17 Following after Paul and us, she kept crying out, saying <3004 lego>, "These men are bond-servants of the Most High God, who are proclaiming to you the way of salvation."

- Acts 16:18 She continued doing this for many days. But Paul was greatly annoyed, and turned and **said <3004 lego>** to the spirit, "I command you in the name of Jesus Christ to come out of her!" And it came out at that very moment.
- Acts 16:31 They said <3004 lego>, "Believe in the Lord Jesus, and you will be saved, you and your household."
- Acts 18:13 saying <3004 lego>, "This man persuades men to worship God contrary to the law."
- Acts 19:2 He **said <3004 lego>** to them, "Did you receive the Holy Spirit when you believed?" And they *said* to him, "No, we have not even heard whether there is a Holy Spirit."
- Acts 19:4 Paul said <3004 lego>, "John baptized with the baptism of repentance, telling <3004 lego> the people to believe in Him who was coming after him, that is, in Jesus."
- Acts 20:23 except that the Holy Spirit solemnly testifies to me in every city, **saying <3004 lego>** that bonds and afflictions await me.
- Acts 20:35 "In everything I showed you that by working hard in this manner you must help the weak and remember the words of the Lord Jesus, that He Himself said <3004 lego>, 'It is more blessed to give than to receive.'"
- Acts 21:20 And when they heard it they *began* glorifying God; and they **said <3004 lego>** to him, "You see, brother, how many thousands there are among the Jews of those who have believed, and they are all zealous for the Law;
- Acts 21:21 and they have been told about you, that you are teaching all the Jews who are among the Gentiles to forsake Moses, **telling <3004 lego>** them not to circumcise their children nor to walk according to the customs.
- Acts 22:8 "And I answered, 'Who are You, Lord?' And He said <3004 lego> to me, 'I am Jesus the Nazarene, whom you are persecuting.'
- Acts 22:14 "And he said <3004 lego>, 'The God of our fathers has appointed you to know His will and to see the Righteous One and to hear an utterance from His mouth.
- Acts 23:3 Then Paul **said <3004 lego>** to him, "God is going to strike you, you whitewashed wall! Do you sit to try me according to the Law, and in violation of the Law order me to be struck?"
- Acts 23:5 And Paul said, "I was not aware, brethren, that he was high priest; for it is written, 'YOU SHALL NOT **SPEAK <3004 lego>** EVIL OF A RULER OF YOUR PEOPLE.'"
- Acts 24:14 "But this I admit to you, that according to the Way which they **call <3004 lego>** a sect I do serve the God of our fathers, believing everything that is in accordance with the Law and that is written in the Prophets;
- Acts 26:22 "So, having obtained help from God, I stand to this day testifying both to small and great, **stating <3004 lego>** nothing but what the Prophets and Moses said was going to take place;
- Acts 27:35 Having said <3004 lego> this, he took bread and gave thanks to God in the presence of all, and he broke it and began to eat.
- Acts 28:25 And when they did not agree with one another, they *began* leaving after Paul had **spoken <3004 lego>** one *parting* word, "The Holy Spirit rightly spoke through Isaiah the prophet to your fathers,
- Acts 28:26 **saying <3004 lego>**, 'GO TO THIS PEOPLE AND SAY **<3004 lego>**, "YOU WILL KEEP ON HEARING, BUT WILL NOT UNDERSTAND; AND YOU WILL KEEP ON SEEING, BUT WILL NOT PERCEIVE;
- Romans 2:22 You who **say <3004 lego>** that one should not commit adultery, do you commit adultery? You who abhor idols, do you rob temples?

- Romans 3:19 Now we know that whatever the Law says <3004 lego>, it speaks to those who are under the Law, so that every mouth may be closed and all the world may become accountable to God;
- Romans 4:9 Is this blessing then on the circumcised, or on the uncircumcised also? For we say <3004 lego>, "FAITH WAS CREDITED TO ABRAHAM AS RIGHTEOUSNESS."
- Romans 6:1 What shall we say <3004 lego> then? Are we to continue in sin so that grace may increase?
- Romans 7:7 What shall we say <3004 lego> then? Is the Law sin? May it never be! On the contrary, I would not have come to know sin except through the Law; for I would not have known about coveting if the Law had not said <3004 lego>, "YOU SHALL NOT COVET."
- Romans 9:15 For He says <3004 lego> to Moses, "I WILL HAVE MERCY ON WHOM I HAVE MERCY, AND I WILL HAVE COMPASSION ON WHOM I HAVE COMPASSION."
- Romans 9:20 On the contrary, who are you, O man, who answers back to God? The thing molded will not say <3004 lego> to the molder, "Why did you make me like this," will it?
- Romans 9:25 As He says <3004 lego> also in Hosea, "I WILL CALL THOSE WHO WERE NOT MY PEOPLE, 'MY PEOPLE,' AND HER WHO WAS NOT BELOVED, 'BELOVED.'"
- Romans 9:26 "AND IT SHALL BE THAT IN THE PLACE WHERE IT WAS **SAID <3004 lego>** TO THEM, 'YOU ARE NOT MY PEOPLE,' THERE THEY SHALL BE CALLED SONS OF THE LIVING GOD."
- Romans 10:11 For the Scripture says <3004 lego>, "WHOEVER BELIEVES IN HIM WILL NOT BE DISAPPOINTED."
- Romans 10:16 However, they did not all heed the good news; for Isaiah says <3004 lego>, "LORD, WHO HAS BELIEVED OUR REPORT?"
- Romans 10:18 But I **say <3004 lego>**, surely they have never heard, have they? Indeed they have; "THEIR VOICE HAS GONE OUT INTO ALL THE EARTH, AND THEIR WORDS TO THE ENDS OF THE WORLD."
- Romans 10:19 But I **say <3004 lego>**, surely Israel did not know, did they? First Moses **says <3004 lego>**, "I WILL MAKE YOU JEALOUS BY THAT WHICH IS NOT A NATION, BY A NATION WITHOUT UNDERSTANDING WILL I ANGER YOU."
- Romans 10:20 And Isaiah is very bold and says <3004 lego>, "I WAS FOUND BY THOSE WHO DID NOT SEEK ME, I BECAME MANIFEST TO THOSE WHO DID NOT ASK FOR ME."
- Romans 10:21 But as for Israel He **says <3004 lego>**, "ALL THE DAY LONG I HAVE STRETCHED OUT MY HANDS TO A DISOBEDIENT AND OBSTINATE PEOPLE."
- Romans 11:2 God has not rejected His people whom He foreknew. Or do you not know what the Scripture says <3004 lego> in *the passage about* Elijah, how he pleads with God against Israel?
- Romans 11:9 And David says <3004 lego>, "LET THEIR TABLE BECOME A SNARE AND A TRAP, AND A STUMBLING BLOCK AND A RETRIBUTION TO THEM.
- Romans 11:19 You will say <3004 lego> then, "Branches were broken off so that I might be grafted in."
- Romans 12:3 For through the grace given to me I say <3004 lego> to everyone among you not to think more highly of himself than he ought to think; but to think so as to have sound judgment, as God has allotted to each a measure of faith.

- Romans 12:19 Never take your own revenge, beloved, but leave room for the wrath *of God*, for it is written, "VENGEANCE IS MINE, I WILL REPAY," says <3004 lego> the Lord.
- Romans 14:11 For it is written, "AS I LIVE, **SAYS <3004 lego>** THE LORD, EVERY KNEE SHALL BOW TO ME, AND EVERY TONGUE SHALL GIVE PRAISE TO GOD."
- Romans 15:10 Again he says <3004 lego>, "REJOICE, O GENTILES, WITH HIS PEOPLE."
- Romans 15:12 Again Isaiah says <3004 lego>, "THERE SHALL COME THE ROOT OF JESSE, AND HE WHO ARISES TO RULE OVER THE GENTILES, IN HIM SHALL THE GENTILES HOPE."
- 1 Corinthians 1:10 Now I exhort you, brethren, by the name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that you all **agree <3004 lego>** and that there be no divisions among you, but that you be made complete in the same mind and in the same judgment.
- 1 Corinthians 1:12 Now I mean <3004 lego> this, that each one of you is saying <3004 lego>, "I am of Paul," and "I of Apollos," and "I of Cephas," and "I of Christ."
- 1 Corinthians 7:8 But I say <3004 lego> to the unmarried and to widows that it is good for them if they remain even as I.
- 1 Corinthians 7:12 But to the rest I say <3004 lego>, not the Lord, that if any brother has a wife who is an unbeliever, and she consents to live with him, he must not divorce her.
- 1 Corinthians 9:8 I am not speaking these things according to human judgment, am I? Or does not the Law also say <3004 lego> these things?
- 1 Corinthians 11:24 and when He had given thanks, He broke it and said <3004 lego>, "This is My body, which is for you; do this in remembrance of Me."
- 1 Corinthians 11:25 In the same way *He took* the cup also after supper, **saying <3004 lego>**, "This cup is the new covenant in My blood; do this, as often as you drink *it*, in remembrance of Me."
- 1 Corinthians 14:21 In the Law it is written, "BY MEN OF STRANGE TONGUES AND BY THE LIPS OF STRANGERS I WILL SPEAK TO THIS PEOPLE, AND EVEN SO THEY WILL NOT LISTEN TO ME," says <3004 lego> the Lord.
- 1 Corinthians 14:34 The women are to keep silent in the churches; for they are not permitted to speak, but are to subject themselves, just as the Law also says <3004 lego>.
- 1 Corinthians 15:12 Now if Christ is preached, that He has been raised from the dead, how do some among you say <3004 lego> that there is no resurrection of the dead?
- 1 Corinthians 15:27 For HE HAS PUT ALL THINGS IN SUBJECTION UNDER HIS FEET. But when He says <3004 lego>, "All things are put in subjection," it is evident that He is excepted who put all things in subjection to Him.
- 1 Corinthians 15:51 Behold, I **tell <3004 lego>** you a mystery; we will not all sleep, but we will all be changed.
- 2 Corinthians 6:2 for He says <3004 lego>, "AT THE ACCEPTABLE TIME I LISTENED TO YOU, AND ON THE DAY OF SALVATION I HELPED YOU." Behold, now is "THE ACCEPTABLE TIME," behold, now is "THE DAY OF SALVATION"—
- 2 Corinthians 6:17 "Therefore, COME OUT FROM THEIR MIDST AND BE SEPARATE," says <3004 lego> the Lord. "AND DO NOT TOUCH WHAT IS UNCLEAN; And I will welcome you.
- 2 Corinthians 6:18 "And I will be a father to you, And you shall be sons and daughters to Me," Says <3004 lego> the Lord Almighty.

- 2 Corinthians 12:9 And He has **said <3004 lego>** to me, "My grace is sufficient for you, for power is perfected in weakness." Most gladly, therefore, I will rather boast about my weaknesses, so that the power of Christ may dwell in me.
- Galatians 1:9 As we have said before, so I say <3004 lego> again now, if any man is preaching to you a gospel contrary to what you received, he is to be accursed!
- Galatians 3:15 Brethren, I **speak <3004 lego>** in terms of human relations: even though it is *only* a man's covenant, yet when it has been ratified, no one sets it aside or adds conditions to it.
- Galatians 3:16 Now the promises were **spoken <3004 lego>** to Abraham and to his seed. He does not **say <3004 lego>**, "And to seeds," as *referring* to many, but *rather* to one, "And to your seed," that is, Christ.
- Galatians 3:17 What I am **saying <3004 lego>** is this: the Law, which came four hundred and thirty years later, does not invalidate a covenant previously ratified by God, so as to nullify the promise.
- Galatians 4:21 **Tell <3004 lego>** me, you who want to be under law, do you not listen to the law?
- Galatians 4:30 But what does the Scripture say <3004 lego>? "CAST OUT THE BONDWOMAN AND HER SON, FOR THE SON OF THE BONDWOMAN SHALL NOT BE AN HEIR WITH THE SON OF THE FREE WOMAN."
- Galatians 5:2 Behold I, Paul, say <3004 lego> to you that if you receive circumcision, Christ will be of no benefit to you.
- Galatians 5:16 But I say <3004 lego>, walk by the Spirit, and you will not carry out the desire of the flesh.
- Ephesians 4:8 Therefore it says <3004 lego>, "WHEN HE ASCENDED ON HIGH, HE LED CAPTIVE A HOST OF CAPTIVES, AND HE GAVE GIFTS TO MEN."
- Ephesians 4:17 So this I say <3004 lego>, and affirm together with the Lord, that you walk no longer just as the Gentiles also walk, in the futility of their mind,
- Ephesians 5:32 This mystery is great; but I am **speaking <3004 lego>** with reference to Christ and the church.
- Philippians 4:4 Rejoice in the Lord always; again I will say <3004 lego>, rejoice!
- Philippians 4:11 Not that I **speak <3004 lego>** from want, for I have learned to be content in whatever circumstances I am.
- 1 Thessalonians 4:15 For this we say <3004 lego> to you by the word of the Lord, that we who are alive and remain until the coming of the Lord, will not precede those who have fallen asleep.
- 1 Timothy 4:1 But the Spirit explicitly **says <3004 lego>** that in later times some will fall away from the faith, paying attention to deceitful spirits and doctrines of demons,
- 1 Timothy 5:18 For the Scripture **says <3004 lego>**, "YOU SHALL NOT MUZZLE THE OX WHILE HE IS THRESHING," and "The laborer is worthy of his wages."
- Hebrews 1:5 For to which of the angels did He ever say <3004 lego>, "YOU ARE MY SON, TODAY I HAVE BEGOTTEN YOU"? And again, "I WILL BE A FATHER TO HIM AND HE SHALL BE A SON TO ME"?
- Hebrews 1:6 And when He again brings the firstborn into the world, He says <3004 lego>, "AND LET ALL THE ANGELS OF GOD WORSHIP HIM."
- Hebrews 1:7 And of the angels He says <3004 lego>, "WHO MAKES HIS ANGELS WINDS, AND HIS MINISTERS A FLAME OF FIRE."

- Hebrews 1:13 But to which of the angels has He ever said <3004 lego>, "SIT AT MY RIGHT HAND, UNTIL I MAKE YOUR ENEMIES A FOOTSTOOL FOR YOUR FEET"?
- Hebrews 2:6 But one has testified somewhere, **saying <3004 lego>**, "WHAT IS MAN, THAT YOU REMEMBER HIM? OR THE SON OF MAN, THAT YOU ARE CONCERNED ABOUT HIM?
- Hebrews 2:12 **saying <3004 lego>**, "I WILL PROCLAIM YOUR NAME TO MY BRETHREN, IN THE MIDST OF THE CONGREGATION I WILL SING YOUR PRAISE."
- Hebrews 3:10 "THEREFORE I WAS ANGRY WITH THIS GENERATION, AND SAID <3004 lego>, 'THEY ALWAYS GO ASTRAY IN THEIR HEART, AND THEY DID NOT KNOW MY WAYS';
- Hebrews 3:15 while it is said <3004 lego>, "TODAY IF YOU HEAR HIS VOICE, DO NOT HARDEN YOUR HEARTS, AS WHEN THEY PROVOKED ME."
- Hebrews 4:3 For we who have believed enter that rest, just as He has **said <3004 lego>**, "AS I SWORE IN MY WRATH, THEY SHALL NOT ENTER MY REST," although His works were finished from the foundation of the world.
- Hebrews 4:4 For He has **said** <3004 lego> somewhere concerning the seventh *day*: "AND GOD RESTED ON THE SEVENTH DAY FROM ALL HIS WORKS";
- Hebrews 4:7 He again fixes a certain day, "Today," **saying <3004 lego>** through David after so long a time just as has been said before, "TODAY IF YOU HEAR HIS VOICE, DO NOT HARDEN YOUR HEARTS."
- Hebrews 5:6 just as He says <3004 lego> also in another *passage*, "YOU ARE A PRIEST FOREVER ACCORDING TO THE ORDER OF MELCHIZEDEK."
- Hebrews 7:9 And, so to **speak <3004 lego>**, through Abraham even Levi, who received tithes, paid tithes,
- Hebrews 7:11 Now if perfection was through the Levitical priesthood (for on the basis of it the people received the Law), what further need *was there* for another priest to arise according to the order of Melchizedek, and not be **designated <3004 lego>** according to the order of Aaron?
- Hebrews 7:21 (for they indeed became priests without an oath, but He with an oath through the One who said <3004 lego> to Him, "THE LORD HAS SWORN AND WILL NOT CHANGE HIS MIND, 'YOU ARE A PRIEST FOREVER'");
- Hebrews 8:1 Now the main point in what has been said <3004 lego> is this: we have such a high priest, who has taken His seat at the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens,
- Hebrews 8:8 For finding fault with them, He says <3004 lego>, "BEHOLD, DAYS ARE COMING, SAYS <3004 lego> THE LORD, WHEN I WILL EFFECT A NEW COVENANT WITH THE HOUSE OF ISRAEL AND WITH THE HOUSE OF JUDAH;
- Hebrews 8:9 NOT LIKE THE COVENANT WHICH I MADE WITH THEIR FATHERS ON THE DAY WHEN I TOOK THEM BY THE HAND TO LEAD THEM OUT OF THE LAND OF EGYPT; FOR THEY DID NOT CONTINUE IN MY COVENANT, AND I DID NOT CARE FOR THEM, SAYS <3004 lego> THE LORD.
- Hebrews 8:10 "FOR THIS IS THE COVENANT THAT I WILL MAKE WITH THE HOUSE OF ISRAEL AFTER THOSE DAYS, **SAYS** <**3004 lego**> THE LORD: I WILL PUT MY LAWS INTO THEIR MINDS, AND I WILL WRITE THEM ON THEIR HEARTS. AND I WILL BE THEIR GOD, AND THEY SHALL BE MY PEOPLE.

- Hebrews 8:11 "AND THEY SHALL NOT TEACH EVERYONE HIS FELLOW CITIZEN, AND EVERYONE HIS BROTHER, **SAYING <3004 lego>**, 'KNOW THE LORD,' FOR ALL WILL KNOW ME, FROM THE LEAST TO THE GREATEST OF THEM.
- Hebrews 8:13 When He said <3004 lego>, "A new *covenant*," He has made the first obsolete. But whatever is becoming obsolete and growing old is ready to disappear.
- Hebrews 9:20 saying <3004 lego>, "THIS IS THE BLOOD OF THE COVENANT WHICH GOD COMMANDED YOU."
- Hebrews 10:5 Therefore, when He comes into the world, He says <3004 lego>, "SACRIFICE AND OFFERING YOU HAVE NOT DESIRED, BUT A BODY YOU HAVE PREPARED FOR ME;
- Hebrews 10:7 "THEN I **SAID <3004 lego>**, 'BEHOLD, I HAVE COME (IN THE SCROLL OF THE BOOK IT IS WRITTEN OF ME) TO DO YOUR WILL, O GOD.'"
- Hebrews 10:8 After **saying <3004 lego>** above, "SACRIFICES AND OFFERINGS AND WHOLE BURNT OFFERINGS AND *sacrifices* FOR SIN YOU HAVE NOT DESIRED, NOR HAVE YOU TAKEN PLEASURE *in them"* (which are offered according to the Law),
- Hebrews 10:9 then He said <3004 lego>, "BEHOLD, I HAVE COME TO DO YOUR WILL." He takes away the first in order to establish the second.
- Hebrews 10:15 And the Holy Spirit also testifies to us; for after saying <3004 lego>,
- Hebrews 10:16 "THIS IS THE COVENANT THAT I WILL MAKE WITH THEM AFTER THOSE DAYS, **SAYS** <**3004 lego>** THE LORD: I WILL PUT MY LAWS UPON THEIR HEART, AND ON THEIR MIND I WILL WRITE THEM," *He then says*,
- Hebrews 13:5 *Make sure that* your character is free from the love of money, being content with what you have; for He Himself has said <3004 lego>, "I WILL NEVER DESERT YOU, NOR WILL I EVER FORSAKE YOU,"
- James 2:3 and you pay special attention to the one who is wearing the fine clothes, and say <3004 lego>, "You sit here in a good place," and you say <3004 lego> to the poor man, "You stand over there, or sit down by my footstool,"
- James 2:11 For He **who said <3004 lego>**, "DO NOT COMMIT ADULTERY," also said <3004 lego>, "DO NOT COMMIT MURDER." Now if you do not commit adultery, but do commit murder, you have become a transgressor of the law.
- James 2:14 What use is it, my brethren, if someone **says** <**3004 lego>** he has faith but he has no works? Can that faith save him?
- James 2:16 and one of you says <3004 lego> to them, "Go in peace, be warmed and be filled," and yet you do not give them what is necessary for *their* body, what use is that?
- James 2:23 and the Scripture was fulfilled which says <3004 lego>, "AND ABRAHAM BELIEVED GOD, AND IT WAS RECKONED TO HIM AS RIGHTEOUSNESS," and he was called the friend of God.
- James 4:5 Or do you think that the Scripture **speaks** <3004 lego> to no purpose: "He jealously desires the Spirit which He has made to dwell in us"?
- James 4:6 But He gives a greater grace. Therefore *it* says <3004 lego>, "GOD IS OPPOSED TO THE PROUD, BUT GIVES GRACE TO THE HUMBLE."
- James 4:15 Instead, *you ought* to **say <3004 lego>**, "If the Lord wills, we will live and also do this or that."
- 1 John 1:6 If we say <3004 lego> that we have fellowship with Him and *yet* walk in the darkness, we lie and do not practice the truth;

- 1 John 1:8 If we say <3004 lego> that we have no sin, we are deceiving ourselves and the truth is not in us.
- 1 John 1:10 If we say <3004 lego> that we have not sinned, we make Him a liar and His word is not in us.
- 1 John 2:4 The one who says <3004 lego>, "I have come to know Him," and does not keep His commandments, is a liar, and the truth is not in him;
- 1 John 2:6 the one who **says <3004 lego>** he abides in Him ought himself to walk in the same manner as He walked.
- 1 John 2:9 The one who says <3004 lego> he is in the Light and *yet* hates his brother is in the darkness until now.
- 1 John 4:20 If someone **says** <**3004 lego**>, "I love God," and hates his brother, he is a liar; for the one who does not love his brother whom he has seen, cannot love God whom he has not seen.
- 1 John 5:16 If anyone sees his brother committing a sin not *leading* to death, he shall ask and *God* will for him give life to those who commit sin not *leading* to death. There is a sin *leading* to death; I do not say <3004 lego> that he should make request for this.
- 2 John 1:10 If anyone comes to you and does not bring this teaching, do not receive him into *your* house, and do not **give <3004 lego>** him a greeting;
- 2 John 1:11 for the one who gives <3004 lego> him a greeting participates in his evil deeds.
- Jude 1:9 But Michael the archangel, when he disputed with the devil and argued about the body of Moses, did not dare pronounce against him a railing judgment, but said <3004 lego>, "The Lord rebuke you!"
- Jude 1:18 that they were **saying <3004 lego>** to you, "In the last time there will be mockers, following after their own ungodly lusts."
- Revelation 1:8 "I am the Alpha and the Omega," says <3004 lego> the Lord God, "who is and who was and who is to come, the Almighty."
- Revelation 2:2 'I know your deeds and your toil and perseverance, and that you cannot tolerate evil men, and you put to the test those who **call <3004 lego>** themselves apostles, and they are not, and you found them *to be* false;
- Revelation 2:7 'He who has an ear, let him hear what the Spirit says <3004 lego> to the churches. To him who overcomes, I will grant to eat of the tree of life which is in the Paradise of God.'
- Revelation 2:9 'I know your tribulation and your poverty (but you are rich), and the blasphemy by those who say <3004 lego> they are Jews and are not, but are a synagogue of Satan.
- Revelation 2:11 'He who has an ear, let him hear what the Spirit says <3004 lego> to the churches. He who overcomes will not be hurt by the second death.'
- Revelation 2:17 'He who has an ear, let him hear what the Spirit says <3004 lego> to the churches. To him who overcomes, to him I will give *some* of the hidden manna, and I will give him a white stone, and a new name written on the stone which no one knows but he who receives it.'
- Revelation 2:20 'But I have *this* against you, that you tolerate the woman Jezebel, who **calls** <3004 lego> herself a prophetess, and she teaches and leads My bond-servants astray so that they commit *acts of* immorality and eat things sacrificed to idols.
- Revelation 2:24 'But I say <3004 lego> to you, the rest who are in Thyatira, who do not hold this teaching, who have not known the deep things of Satan, as they call <3004 lego> them— I place no other burden on you.

- Revelation 3:1 "To the angel of the church in Sardis write: He who has the seven Spirits of God and the seven stars, says <3004 lego> this: 'I know your deeds, that you have a name that you are alive, but you are dead.
- Revelation 3:17 'Because you say <3004 lego>, "I am rich, and have become wealthy, and have need of nothing," and you do not know that you are wretched and miserable and poor and blind and naked,
- Revelation 5:12 **saying <3004 lego>** with a loud voice, "Worthy is the Lamb that was slain to receive power and riches and wisdom and might and honor and glory and blessing."
- Revelation 5:13 And every created thing which is in heaven and on the earth and under the earth and on the sea, and all things in them, I heard **saying <3004 lego>**, "To Him who sits on the throne, and to the Lamb, *be* blessing and honor and glory and dominion forever and ever."
- Revelation 7:12 **saying <3004 lego>**, "Amen, blessing and glory and wisdom and thanksgiving and honor and power and might, *be* to our God forever and ever. Amen."
- Revelation 7:14 I said <3004 lego> to him, "My lord, you know." And he said <3004 lego> to me, "These are the ones who come out of the great tribulation, and they have washed their robes and made them white in the blood of the Lamb.
- Revelation 13:4 they worshiped the dragon because he gave his authority to the beast; and they worshiped the beast, saying <3004 lego>, "Who is like the beast, and who is able to wage war with him?"
- Revelation 13:14 And he deceives those who dwell on the earth because of the signs which it was given him to perform in the presence of the beast, telling <3004 lego> those who dwell on the earth to make an image to the beast who *had the wound of the sword and has come to life.
- Revelation 14:7 and he said <3004 lego> with a loud voice, "Fear God, and give Him glory, because the hour of His judgment has come; worship Him who made the heaven and the earth and sea and springs of waters."
- Revelation 15:3 And they *sang the song of Moses, the bond-servant of God, and the song of the Lamb, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Great and marvelous are Your works, O Lord God, the Almighty; Righteous and true are Your ways, King of the nations!
- Revelation 16:5 And I heard the angel of the waters **saying <3004 lego>**, "Righteous are You, who are and who were, O Holy One, because You judged these things;
- Revelation 16:7 And I heard the altar **saying <3004 lego>**, "Yes, O Lord God, the Almighty, true and righteous are Your judgments."
- Revelation 18:4 I heard another voice from heaven, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Come out of her, my people, so that you will not participate in her sins and receive of her plagues;
- Revelation 19:1 After these things I heard something like a loud voice of a great multitude in heaven, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Hallelujah! Salvation and glory and power belong to our God;
- Revelation 19:5 And a voice came from the throne, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Give praise to our God, all you His bond-servants, you who fear Him, the small and the great."
- Revelation 19:6 Then I heard *something* like the voice of a great multitude and like the sound of many waters and like the sound of mighty peals of thunder, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Hallelujah! For the Lord our God, the Almighty, reigns.
- Revelation 19:9 Then he *said <3004 lego> to me, "Write, 'Blessed are those who are invited to the marriage supper of the Lamb.'" And he *said <3004 lego> to me, "These are true words of God."

- Revelation 19:17 Then I saw an angel standing in the sun, and he cried out with a loud voice, saying <3004 lego> to all the birds which fly in midheaven, "Come, assemble for the great supper of God,
- Revelation 21:3 And I heard a loud voice from the throne, **saying <3004 lego>**, "Behold, the tabernacle of God is among men, and He will dwell among them, and they shall be His people, and God Himself will be among them,
- Revelation 21:5 And He who sits on the throne said <3004 lego>, "Behold, I am making all things new." And He *said <3004 lego>, "Write, for these words are faithful and true."
- Revelation 21:6 Then He **said <3004 lego>** to me, "It is done. I am the Alpha and the Omega, the beginning and the end. I will give to the one who thirsts from the spring of the water of life without cost.
- Revelation 22:6 And he **said <3004 lego>** to me, "These words are faithful and true"; and the Lord, the God of the spirits of the prophets, sent His angel to show to His bond-servants the things which must soon take place.
- Revelation 22:9 But he *said <3004 lego> to me, "Do not do that. I am a fellow servant of yours and of your brethren the prophets and of those who heed the words of this book. Worship God."
- Revelation 22:10 And he *said <3004 lego> to me, "Do not seal up the words of the prophecy of this book, for the time is near.
- Revelation 22:17 The Spirit and the bride say <3004 lego>, "Come." And let the one who hears say <3004 lego>, "Come." And let the one who is thirsty come; let the one who wishes take the water of life without cost.
- Revelation 22:20 He who testifies to these things **says** <**3004 lego**>, "Yes, I am coming quickly." Amen. Come, Lord Jesus.